Docking Analysis of Quercetin, Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven Domains of Polyketide Synthase, A computational approach to Contemplate Quercetin, Gallic acid- mediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in *Aspergillus flavus*, A potent carcinogenic Fungus

Project Report Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirement for the Degree

of Bachelor of Technology

## Submitted

BY

# CHHAVI THAKUR (171518) AMANJOT SINGH MALHOTRA (171831)



Under the Supervision of: Dr. JATA SHANKAR Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics JAYPEE UNIVERSITY OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY WAKNAGHAT, SOLAN – 173234 HIMACHAL PRADESH, INDIA JULY 2020-MAY

## ACKNOWLEDGMENT

"The reward of the young scientist is the emotional thrill of being the first person in the history of the world to see something or to understand something, nothing can be compared with that experience"

AS WE DO MORE, WE LEARN MORE AND ULTIMATELY BECOME MORE.

Presentation, inspiration and motivation have always played a key role in the success of any venture. This journey would never have been completed without the support, well wishes and encouragement of many people. We would like to acknowledge all those who contributed to this project and helped us to reach this desired destination.

First and freest, we express our heartfelt gratitude to the **Almighty God**, The supreme power who blessed us with strength , courage and all the favorable circumstances to complete the work and helped us in acquiring our GOAL.

Our deepest gratitude to our mentor **"Dr. Jata Shankar**" Associate Professor, Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics. **He made me bridge the gap between where I stood and where I stand today with utmost confidence**. It was only due to his solemn efforts, resolute guidance, steadfast encouragement, meticulous supervision and positive attitude that we have reached here with promising outcomes. His patience and motivation encouraged us throughout the work. He was always there with his correct vision, encouragement and advice throughout the work and made us complete it successfully and effectively.

We also owe our sincere thanks to JUIT administration, Vice Chancellor, Prof. (Dr.) Vinod Kumar, Director and Academic Head, Prof. (Dr.) Samir Dev Gupta and Registrar Maj. Gen. Bassi and Dr. Sudhir Kumar" Professor and Head, Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics for providing all the facilities and infrastructure to accomplish this work.

Coming Together is a beginning, Staying together is Progress and Working together as a **TEAM** is **SUCCESS**. Unity is strength, when there is teamwork and collaboration, wonderful things can be achieved.

We extend our heartfelt gratitude to our Ph.D scholar, Mrs. **Sonia K. Shishodia** who was always there with all her support and also guided us in every step of project work.

Last but not the least, we would like to pay out deepest gratitude to my **Grand Mother , My parents** whose love and support helped a lot to reach here. My mother always believed **SKY IS THE LIMIT** for me. Their unconditional love, guidance, care, support, innumerable sacrifice and trust have always encouraged us in every step of life.

## CERTIFICATE

#### STUDENT DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work presented in this Report Thesis entitled "Docking Analysis of Quercetin, Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven Domains of Polyketide Synthase, A computational approach to Contemplate Quercetin, Gallic acid - mediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in Aspergillus flavu, A potent carcinogenic Fungus" in fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Bachelor of Technology in Bioinformatics submitted in the Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics, Jaypee University Of Information Technology, Waknaghat , Himachal Pradesh, is an original record of my own work carried out over a period from July 2020 to May 2021 under the supervision of Dr. Jata Shankar (Associate Professor, Department of biotechnology and bioinformatics).

The matter expressed in the report has not been submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma.

(Student Signature)

Anojet Sig

**CHHAVI THAKUR** 

#### AMANJOT SINGH MALHOTRA

**B.TECH. BIOINFORMATICS(171518)** 

**B.TECH. BIOTECHNOLOGY (171831)** 

This is to certify that the above statement made by the candidates is true to the best of my knowledge.

(Lan Ka

(Supervisor Signature)

#### Name: Dr. JATA SHANKAR

Department name: Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

<u>S.NO</u>	CONTENT DESCRIPTION					
1.0	CHAPTER 1:					
1.1	ABSTRACT					
1.2	INTRODUCTION					
1.3	LITERATURE REVIEW:					
1.3.1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION					
1.3.2	ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS, A POTENT CARCINOGENIC FUNGUS:					
1.3.2.1	HOST RANGE OF ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS					
1.3.2.2	BIOLOGY AND HABITAT OF A. FLAVUS					
1.3.3	AFLATOXINS					
1.3.4	ABOUT PROTEIN					
1.3.5	DOMAINS OF PROTEIN					
1.3.6	STRUCTURE OF PROTEIN					
1.3.7	PHYTOCHEMICALS AS INHIBITORS					
1.3.7.1	GALLIC ACID					
1.3.7.2	QUERCETIN					
1.3.8	ABOUT INHIBITION OF AFLATOXIN BIOSYNTHESIS					
1.3.9	COMPUTATIONAL APPROACH TO CONTEMPLATE STUDY					
1.3.10	SOFTWARES USED					
1.4	MATERIALS AND METHODS:					
1.4.1	ANALYSIS OF BIOLOGICAL DATA AND SEQUENCE					
	RETRIEVAL					
1.4.2	PROTEIN BLAST FOR FINDING HOMOLOGOUS SEQUENCES					
1.4.3	HOMOLOGY MODELING AND PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS					
1.4.4	LIGAND PREPARATION					
1.4.5	ANALYSIS OF MOLECULAR PROPERTIES OF LIGANDS					
1.4.6	PROTEIN STRUCTURE PREPARATION					
1.4.7	STRUCTURE STABILITY OF PROTEIN VALIDATED BY THE					
	RAMACHANDRAN PLOT USING PROCHECK SERVER					
1.4.8	MOLECULAR DOCKING STUDIES					
1.4.8.1	DOCKING USING AUTODOCK 4.2					
1.4.8.2	GRID GENERATION (OPEN DOCKING) IN AUTODOCK					
1.4.9	LIGPLOT ANALYSIS					
1.4.10	MOLECULAR DYNAMIC SIMULATIONS					
1.5	RESULTS:					
1.5.1	HOMOLOGY MODELING, SEQUENCE ALIGNMENT AND					
	PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS					
1.5.2	DOCKING CORRELATIONS VALIDATED BY LIGPLOT					
	ANALYSIS					

1.5.3	MD SIMULATION
1.6	DISCUSSION
2.0	CHAPTER 2:
2.1	INTRODUCTION:
2.1.1	PHYTOCHEMICALS AS ANTIFUNGAL THERAPEUTIC
2.1.2	SHIKONIN
2.1.3	ABOUT PROTEIN
2.2	METHODOLOGY
2.3	RESULTS
2.4	CONCLUSION
3.0	CONFERENCES ATTENDED
3.1	POSTER PRESENTATION
4.0	REFERENCES

## **CHAPTER 1:**

Docking analysis of Quercetin, Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven domains of Polyketide Synthase, A computational approach to contemplate Quercetin, Gallic acid mediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in *Aspergillus flavus*, A potent carcinogenic fungus 1.1 ABSTRACT

Aspergillus Flavus is the major opportunistic contaminant known to produce aflatoxin in food crops . Food contamination due to aflatoxins is a safety concern for agricultural yields[1]. In order to identify and develop novel anti-aflatoxigenic agents, Explorative Studies on Phytochemicals as anti-aflatoxigenic agents have accrued remarkable importance including Quercetin and Gallic acid which plays a significant role in providing defense mechanisms against it. The previously conducted experimental studies on Gallic acid and Quercetin suggested potential Inhibitor [2] .Thus, to understand the molecular mechanism behind inhibition of aflatoxin biosynthesis by Quercetin and Gallic acid, an interactive study with Polyketide Synthase A (PksA) of Aspergillus flavus was à fond conducted [3]. The 3D structure of PksA comprising of seven structural domains were modeled using SWISS-MODEL server and systematic Docking studies were performed using Auto dock tools-1.5.6 .Docking energies of the ligands Gallic acid, Quercetin and Hexanoic acid (as precursor) were compared with each of the domains of PksA enzyme. Binding energy for Quercetin and Gallic acid was lesser that ranged from (-6.96 to -5.86kcal/mol) and (-6.09 to -4.79 kcal/mol) in comparison to Hexanoic acid (-5.05 to -3.36 kcal/mol). LigPlot analysis showed the formation of bonds in case of quercetin, 7 H bonds in Gallic acid and 3 H bonds in Hexanoic acid .During an interaction with acyl transferase domain, both Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid showed H bond formation at Glu36, Arg8, Thr11 positions. Also, in PP domain, Gallic acid creates six H bonds in comparison to one in Hexanoic acid .In ACP, TH, KS, PT Domains, No. of H bonds were

observed more as compared to Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid. In AT, PP, CT domains, Gallic acid was observed to have more H bonds than Quercetin and Hexanoic acid. The dynamics of proteinligand complex formation for every domain was investigated through MD simulations. Phytochemicals showed stable binding with active site of polyketide synthase A (PksA) indicated by steady RMSD of protein backbone atoms and potential energy profiles. Overall results revealed that Quercetin Followed by Gallic acid exhibited the highest level of binding potential (more number of H bonds) with PksA domain in comparison to Hexanoic acid; thus, Quercetin and Gallic acid feasibly inhibits by virtue of competitively binding to the seven domains of polyketide synthase, a fundamental enzyme of aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway. Further, we suggest that key enzymes from aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway in aflatoxin-generating Aspergilli could be traversed further using other phytochemicals as potential inhibitors.

#### **1.2 INTRODUCTION**

The project entitled "Docking analysis of Quercetin , Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven domains of Polyketide Synthase , A provided insight into Quercetin , Gallic acid - mediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in Aspergillus flavus" is mainly concerned with objective of "STUDY ON PHYTOCHEMICALS AS ANTI-AFLATOXIGENIC AGENTS , COMPUTATIONAL APPROACH TO STUDY THE MOLECULAR MECHANISM BEHIND INHIBITION OF AFLATOXIN BIOSYNTHESIS BY GALLIC ACID, QUERCETIN AND HEXANOIC ACID AND STUDY THEIR INTERACTIONS WITH POLYKETIDE SYNTHASE PKSA OF *ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS*".

*Aspergillus* is indeed a morphological genus composed of around 250 recognizable species. The aspergillum is distinguished by its distinct and unique spore-bearing structure. *Aspergillus flavus* originally belonged to Flavi's section. This section includes the most critically Significant aflatoxin

developing fungus like A. *flavus*. and A. *parasiticus*. In this segment, the less prevalent aflatoxin producing fungus include A. *nomius*, A. *parviscleroti* genus, A. *bombysis* as well as A. *pseudotamarii* [4].

*Aspergillus flavus* is an avaricious pathogen for agricultural products. It is essential because in both pre and post harvest stages ,It causes aflatoxin to form as a secondary metabolite in a variety of crops [5].Aflatoxins are polyketide derived secondary metabolites ,highly regulated ,poisonous and active hepato-carcinogenic agents which are hazardous to animals as well as in humans, it is conventionally an exploitative pathogen for immuno-compromised individuals[6].

The development of aflatoxin is the combined effect of fungal life forms, substrates and the surrounding environment. The factors influencing the development of aflatoxin can be categorized into three parts: nutritional, biological and physical variables. Physical parameters like pH, relative humidity as well as moisture, light, aeration, can have an impact on aflatoxin production [7]. The genes involved in aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway are clustered, such as those of other secondary metabolites. Acetate' polyketides' are the primary precursors of the secondary metabolites. The diverse aflatoxins are developed through acetate as well as malonate building blocks formed mostly during idiophase. The four major key aflatoxins are CI7 compounds (AFB' AFB2, AFGI, and AFG2) defined as Nonaketides .Biosynthesis of aflatoxin has indeed been speculated to include at minimum 23 enzymatic processes. Aflatoxins are developed via Polyketide 3anthraquinones3xanthones3aflatoxins acetate 3 conversion pathways. At least 15 apparent structurally aflatoxin moieties in the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway have thus far been established. It's been asserted that 25 genes are involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis and are clustered in a 70-kb segment of dna around the chromosome [8].

The polyketide biosynthetic pathway causes Aflatoxin biosynthesis in *A. flavus* to be a synchronous process. Polyketide synthase (PKS) is among the essential enzymes in the polyketide biosynthetic pathway [9]. Fungi corresponding to Type I polyketide Synthase comprises extremely significant multifunctional protein which is 180–250 kDa structured with Diverse multiple domains. Ketoacyl Synthase , acyl carrier proteins and acyl transferase are the three major domain groups . There have been up to 30 genes and a substantial regulatory gene named aflR gene is involved into aflatoxin biosynthesis involving fatty acid synthases [10]. Research on *Aspergillus nidulans* indicated that the generation of secondary metabolite has since been completely rebuilt in mutants whenever mutant of fatty acid synthase itself was processed with hexanoic acid as a precursor [11].

Polyketides are believed to be the prime recipients for the development of anti-contamination therapeutics in agricultural yields caused by aflatoxin. Polyketides have been identified to be efficacious in decreasing aflatoxin contamination, but there are certain limitations existing along with it [12]. An alternative approach to fungal contamination is the interface of Phytochemicals synthesized from diverse plant sources[13]. Plants develop these secondary metabolites to provide a defense mechanism against pathogenic fungus[14]. Due to the antimicrobial properties ,they have the capacity to protect humans and animals against certain diseases induced by microorganisms and even toxins linked with them[15]. For potential drug research and growth, these metabolites have become the most effective chemo-preventative compounds[16].

Specific biological polyphenols including Gallic acid and Quercetin exhibits optimum inhibition against AFB1 production in *Aspergillus flavus*[17]. In almost every part of the plant, such as bark,

wood, leaf, fruit, root as well as seed, Gallic acid and its derivatives are found in natural environment. Since using natural plant products and bio-control additives instead of synthetic chemicals allows scientists to avoid using toxic preservatives, this substitute to synthetic drugs is becoming a primary concern for scientists all over the world. Thus, to understand the Quercetin, Gallic acid and PksA interaction, Computational methodology could be a valuable tool for researching aflatoxin inhibition mechanisms. The protein sequence of PksA from A. flavus was extracted from UniProt database to execute homology modeling. Phytochemicals has been docked with the various PksA domains of A. Flavus, and as compared to the substrate, Hexanoic acid, it binds more efficiently. The position of H bonding and hydrophobic interaction of Quercetin ,Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven distinct domains of PksA was compared using Ligplot analysis. The dynamics of protein-ligand complex formation for every domain was investigate through MD simulations. In contrast to Hexanoic acid, our results indicated that Quercetin and Gallic acid had the highest degree of binding potential with PksA; therefore, Quercetin then Gallic acid could inhibit by conservatively binding to the seven domains of Polyketide Synthase, a key enzyme in the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway.

Aflatoxins are responsible for approximately to 25% of the entire world food crops being harmed, leading to economic losses in developed nations as well as human and animal illness in developing ones[18].Pathogenic and opportunistic fungal infections found in Aspergillus flavus species have the potential to induce mycosis (invasive aspergillosis) in humans. The emergence of drug-resistant isolates has limited the effectiveness of current antifungal medicines[19]. Various adapted cultural methods are now being used and researched to combat the problem of food contamination[17].Our study aim to evaluate the effect of phytochemicals like gallic acid as an alternative approach to

fungal contamination and it may find its application in Phytochemicals based anti- aflatoxigenic agents.

#### **1.3 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **1.3.1 INTRODUCTION**

By producing aflatoxin (AFB1 and AFB2), *Aspergillus flavus* is one of the most potent pollutants of raw food commodities during pre- and post-harvest crops. The International Agency for Research on Cancer classifies these toxins as Category I toxins because they cause cancer. To prevent the toxin's severe effects on humans and animals, different safety administrations control the toxin's exposure level. A. flavus is also one of the most common causes of aspergillosis in immunocompromised patients. Aflatoxin biosynthesis in *A. flavus* is a multi-step process involving the polyketide biosynthetic pathway. Is one of the most important enzymes in the polyketide biosynthesis pathway?

#### **1.3.2** ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS, A POTENT CARCINOGENIC FUNGUS

Aspergillus is a morphological genus that has over 250 species .The aspergillum is distinguished by its peculiar and exclusive spore-bearing structure. Aspergillus flavus was previously mentioned in Flavi's part. The highest deadly aflatoxin-producing fungus, such as *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* [4], are included in this category. Aspergillus flavus is a hazardous fungus that destroys agricultural crops It's significant since it generates aflatoxin to develop as a secondary metabolite in a number of crop types before and after harvest. It's an uncontrolled agricultural pathogen. It's critical to establish aflatoxin as a secondary metabolite in a range of crops either before and after harvest. Aflatoxin is a harmful carcinogen that is strictly controlled throughout most nations. Aflatoxin has

been related to drought-stressed oilseed crops in the zone, including maize, peanuts, cottonseed, and tree nuts [20]. Under the right circumstances the fungus may grow and generate aflatoxin in nearly any preserved crop seed. Aflatoxin can be stored safely if the moisture level is kept below the minimum necessary for *A. flavus* development. Improving cultural methods, creating resilient crops using molecular and proteomic approaches, selective elimination by non-producing strains, and creating field treatments that prevent aflatoxin production are all being utilized or explored.

#### **1.3.2.1 HOST RANGE OF ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS**

*Aspergillus flavus* has a wide habitat spectrum as an uncontrolled pathogen/saprobe. This kind of soil fungus is quite prevalent. The main problem with this fungus in agriculture is that it develops extremely carcinogenic chemicals known as aflatoxins, which are detrimental to the welfare of animals. In the region, *A. flavus* is mostly a problem in the oilseed crops maize, peanuts, cottonseed, and tree nuts. Under the incorrect storage circumstances, A. flavus may develop and generate aflatoxin in nearly every crop seed. Animals and insects are both affected by this disease. In immunocompromised individuals, it is predominantly an uncontrolled pathogen.

#### **1.3.2.2 BIOLOGY AND HABITAT OF A. FLAVUS**

*Aspergillus flavus* species can pollute a variety of agricultural resources in field preservation sites comprising processing plants, and throughout transit. So far, aflatoxins have exclusively been discovered in *A. flavus*, *A. parasiticus*, and *A. nomius* [21].Toxicity of *A. flavus* strains ranges from harmless to generating aflatoxins B1 and B2, whilst aflatoxins BI', B2, GI, and G2 are produced by *A. flavus*, *A. parasiticus*. Aflatoxin-producing fungus are all soil microorganisms, although their dispersion patterns differ [22].In moderate climates *A. flavus* spores can be discovered in the air

rather than in the soil. *A. flavus*, *A. parasiticus* thrives in hotter temperatures like the tropics and subtropics, and has been linked to soil [[23].

#### **1.3.3 AFLATOXINS**

After more than 100,000 turkey poults in England died of apparent poisoning from moldcontaminated peanut meal in the early 1960s, aflatoxins were discovered and characterized [24]. There are two types of aflatoxicosis, a disease caused by aflatoxin toxicity. Acute aflatoxicosis can be fatal. Cancer, with the liver as the primary target organ, immune suppression, teratogenicity, and other symptoms are all symptoms of chronic aflatoxicosis. Aflatoxins are difuranocoumarin derivatives that are formed via a polyketide pathway. The characters relate to the color of their fluorescence underneath ultraviolet light (blue or green), and the numbers indicate their relative migration distance on a thin-layer chromatographic plate. Only four significant aflatoxins, B1, B2, G1, and G2 (AFB1, AFG1, AFB2, and AFG2), contaminate crops and potentially cause risk to livestock and human health, out of at least 16 structurally related aflatoxins identified. The most hepatocarcinogenic naturally produced aflatoxin is Aflatoxin B1 which is a cancer-causing substance [25].A. flavus produces aflatoxins, which are the most toxic and active hepatocarcinogens ever discovered in nature. Due to contrasting morphological and biochemical attributes, reliable species identification within the Aspergillus flavus complex remains difficult, and more taxonomic and population genetics work is needed to better understand the species and related species. The most toxic and carcinogenic compounds are aflatoxins, a category of polyketide-derived furanocoumarins. AFB1 and AFB2 are produced by Aspergillus flavus.

## 1.3.4 Polyketide synthase (Pks)

PKS is a monomeric protein that utilizes acyl units to generate complex natural products. Type I polyketide synthase is a very broad versatile protein (180–250 kDa) with several domains found in fungi. The key domain types are ketoacyl synthase (KS), acyl transferase (AT), and acyl carrier proteins (ACP).

#### **1.3.5 DOMAINS OF PROTEIN**



## FIGURE 2 : SEVEN DOMAINS OF POLYKETIDE SYNTHASE A

## **1.3.6 STRUCTURE OF PROTEIN**

Parameters used for protein structural assessment by PROCHECK analysis are described in the following table.

RAMACHANDRAN	G	MCBL(%)	RESIDUES	OVERALL
PLOT(%)	FACTOR			QUALITY
				FACTOR
91.9 <sup>a</sup> ; 6.6 <sup>b</sup> ; 0.0 <sup>c</sup> ; 1.4 <sup>d</sup>	-0.08 <sup>e</sup> ;	91.9	238	93.33
	0.15 <sup>f</sup> ;			
	0.03 <sup>g</sup>			
88.3 <sup>a</sup> ;10.3 <sup>b</sup> ;1.1 <sup>c</sup> ;0.3 <sup>d</sup>	-0.25 <sup>e</sup> ;	88.3	429	89.31
	$0.16^{ m f}$ ; -			
	0.07 <sup>g</sup>			
85.3 <sup>a</sup> ; 13.2 <sup>b</sup> ;1.5 <sup>c</sup> ;0.0 <sup>d</sup>	-0.27 <sup>e</sup> ;	85.3	79	63.04
	0.13 <sup>f</sup> ; -			
	0.10 <sup>g</sup>			
94.3 <sup>a</sup> ;5.3 <sup>b</sup> ;0.0 <sup>c</sup> ; 0.4 <sup>d</sup>	-0.15 <sup>e</sup> ;	94.3	299	97.53
	$0.14^{ m f}$ ; -			
	0.02 <sup>g</sup>			
89.3 <sup>a</sup> ;10.0 <sup>b</sup> ;0.7 <sup>c</sup> ;0.0 <sup>d</sup>	-0.31 <sup>e</sup>	89.3	327	88.21
	;0.21 <sup>f</sup> ; -			
	0.09 <sup>g</sup>			
	<b>RAMACHANDRAN</b> <b>PLOT(%)</b> $\overline{91.9^{a}; 6.6^{b}; 0.0^{c}; 1.4^{d}}$ $\overline{88.3^{a}; 10.3^{b}; 1.1^{c}; 0.3^{d}}$ $\overline{85.3^{a}; 13.2^{b}; 1.5^{c}; 0.0^{d}}$ $\overline{94.3^{a}; 5.3^{b}; 0.0^{c}; 0.4^{d}}$ $\overline{89.3^{a}; 10.0^{b}; 0.7^{c}; 0.0^{d}}$	RAMACHANDRAN       G         PLOT(%)       FACTOR $91.9^a$ ; $6.6^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $1.4^d$ $-0.08^e$ ; $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $88.3^a$ ; $10.3^b$ ; $1.1^c$ ; $0.3^d$ $-0.25^e$ ; $0.16^f$ ; - $0.07^g$ $85.3^a$ ; $13.2^b$ ; $1.5^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.27^e$ ; $0.13^f$ ; - $0.10^g$ $94.3^a$ ; $5.3^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $0.4^d$ $-0.15^e$ ; $0.14^f$ ; - $0.02^g$ $89.3^a$ ; $10.0^b$ ; $0.7^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.31^e$ ; $0.21^f$ ; - $0.09^g$	RAMACHANDRAN       G       MCBL(%)         PLOT(%)       FACTOR       MCBL(%) $91.9^a$ ; $6.6^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $1.4^d$ $-0.08^e$ ; $91.9$ $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $88.3^a$ ; $10.3^b$ ; $1.1^c$ ; $0.3^d$ $-0.25^e$ ; $88.3$ $0.16^f$ ; $ 0.07^g$ $88.3^a$ ; $13.2^b$ ; $1.5^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.27^e$ ; $85.3$ $0.13^f$ ; $ 0.10^g$ $94.3^a$ ; $5.3^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $0.4^d$ $-0.15^e$ ; $94.3$ $0.14^f$ ; $ 0.02^g$ $39.3^a$ ; $10.0^b$ ; $0.7^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.31^e$ ; $89.3$ $(0.2^g)$ $(0.21^f$ ; $ 0.09^g$ $(0.9^g)$	RAMACHANDRAN       G       MCBL(%)       RESIDUES         PLOT(%)       FACTOR       MCBL(%)       RESIDUES $21.9^a$ ; $6.6^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $1.4^d$ $-0.08^e$ ; $91.9$ $238$ $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $0.15^f$ ; $0.03^g$ $238$ $38.3^a$ ; $10.3^b$ ; $1.1^c$ ; $0.3^d$ $-0.25^e$ ; $88.3$ $429$ $0.16^f$ ; $ 0.07^g$ $0.13^f$ ; $ 0.13^f$ ; $ 35.3^a$ ; $13.2^b$ ; $1.5^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.27^e$ ; $85.3$ $79$ $0.13^f$ ; $ 0.10^g$ $0.10^g$ $299$ $0.43^a$ ; $5.3^b$ ; $0.0^c$ ; $0.4^d$ $-0.15^e$ ; $94.3$ $299$ $0.14^f$ ; $ 0.02^g$ $0.23^e$ $327$ $39.3^a$ ; $10.0^b$ ; $0.7^c$ ; $0.0^d$ $-0.31^e$ $89.3$ $327$

Phosphopantetheine	86.7 <sup>a</sup> ;13.3 <sup>b</sup> ;0.0 <sup>c</sup> ;0.0 <sup>d</sup>	-0.40 <sup>e</sup> ; -	86.7	68	95.91
attachment		$0.01^{ m f}$ ; -			
site		0.24 <sup>g</sup>			
Thioesterase domain	90.4 <sup>a</sup> ;9.1 <sup>b</sup> ;0.5 <sup>c</sup> ;0.0 <sup>d</sup>	-0.25 <sup>e</sup> ;	90.4	239	95.51
		0.19 <sup>f</sup> ; -			
		0.06 <sup>g</sup>			

MCBL distribution of main chain bond length, Overall quality factor by ERRAT

- a Residue in favored regions
- b Residue in allowed regions
- c Residue in generously allowed regions
- d Residue in disallowed regions
- e G factor score of dihedral bond
- f G factor score of covalent bond
- g Overall G factor score

## **1.3.7 PHYTOCHEMICALS AS INHIBITORS**

Plants generate phytochemicals to assist them to withstand diseases from fungus, bacteria, and plant viruses, as well as for ingestion by insects and certain other animals. The term phyton means 'plant' in Greek. These have biological action in the plant habitat and aid in plant development as well as defense versus diseases and competition.

Secondary metabolites are generated by plants as a protection against pathogenic microorganisms, insects, and harsh environmental conditions. These non-nutritive metabolites are referred to as phytochemicals [26]. However, because of their antimicrobial properties, they can safeguard humans and animals from diseases induced by micro-organisms or toxins correlated with them[13].

For potential drug research and growth, metabolites are the most effective chemo-preventative agents[27]. There are several large classes of phytochemical compounds that have been discovered to date, each with its chemical structure[28].

Phenolic compounds, phytosterols, carotenoids, tools, terpenoids, alkaloids, flavonoids, saponins, tannins, aromatic acids, glucosinolates, carotenoids, essential oils, chlorophyll, and organic acids, along with proteases inhibitors, are the primary categories of phytochemicals [29]. Such chemicals can operate directly or indirectly to prevent illnesses or fungal infections because some include antimutagenic, antigenotoxic, antimicrobial, anthelmintic, anticarcinogenic, antiproliferative, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant capabilities[30].

Biologically produced polyphenols including Gallic acid, catechin, epigallocatechin, and Quercetin, of which Quercetin and Gallic acid inhibited AFB1 synthesis in A. flavus the most. The use of phytochemicals derived from a variety of plant sources might be a viable option for treating fungal infestation [31].

#### 1.3.7.1 GALLIC ACID

Gallic acid is a phenolic acid found in a diverse range of relatively high plant species both within its pure form and as a component of greater complex compounds like ester derivatives or polymers. Gallic acid and its metabolites may be found in almost every component of a plant, including the bark, wood, leaf, fruit, root, and seed. They might very well be discovered in a range of foods, notably blueberries, blackberries, strawberries, plums, grapes, mango, cashew nut, hazelnut, walnut, tea, and wine. Gallic acid (GA), a component of the Tulare walnut pellicle, has shown to be a potent inhibitor of aflatoxin biosynthesis [32], GA was proven to greatly inhibit the expression of the farB gene, which regulates peroxisomal fatty acid oxidation[33], as well as the carbon repression regulator encoding gene, creA, which was recently discovered to be engaged in aflatoxin production[34]. Simultaneously, 0.8 percent (w/v) GA treatment significantly reduced the expression of about all allocated genes in the aflatoxin biosynthesis cluster. This sheds light on the biological processes underlying oxidative stress responses in A. flavus that contribute to aflatoxin biosynthesis.

#### 1.3.7.2 QUERCETIN

Quercetin is a plant polyphenol that belongs to flavonoids, commonly found in fruit, vegetables, seeds, tea, wine, flower, nuts, propolis, and honey. To remove aflatoxin from the food chain, a long-term and cost-effective source is needed. Natural Phytochemicals derived from various parts of plants, including fruits, vegetables, and spices, have been shown to have a broad variety of biological effects, including antioxidant, antimicrobial, and anti-inflammatory properties. As a result, to control contamination and increase yield, alternative approaches that are both economically feasible and environmentally sustainable are needed [35]. The inhibition of AFB1 development in A. flavus by Quercetin produced promising results[36], including aflatoxin inhibition at 800 g/mL. In aflatoxin-mediated hepatic harm cells (HepG2) in mice, Quercetin inhibited the formation of reactive oxygen species, cytotoxicity, and lipid per oxidation[37]. To learn more about quercetin's function in inhibiting aflatoxin biosynthesis in A. flavus, researchers conducted a study where they used nano-liquid chromatography-quadruple time-of-flight mass spectrometry to analyze the proteome of Aspergillus flavus cultured in corn flour media (CF) and corn flour media with Quercetin (nLC-Q-TOF). It showed that in contrast to CF, trans-membrane transporter proteins were highly expressed in response to CFQ. In addition, in contrast to CF, the

cAMP/PKA signaling pathway was observed in CFQ. AFB1 was also measured using quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) at various time points (7, 12, 24, and 48 hours). Overall, it showed that the presence of Quercetin inhibited aflatoxin biosynthesis in *A. flavus* [1].

#### **1.3.8 ABOUT INHIBITION OF AFLATOXIN BIOSYNTHESIS**

The natural occurrence, diagnosis, classification, biosynthesis, and genetic regulation of aflatoxins, and also the prevention and management of aflatoxin contamination of food and feed, have all been studied in great depth. At least 23 enzymatic reactions are thought to be involved in the biosynthesis of aflatoxin. In the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway, at least 15 structurally aflatoxin intermediates were identified so far. It has been shown that 25 genes clustered within a 70-kb DNA region on the chromosome play a role in aflatoxin biosynthesis. Aflatoxin biosynthesis genes, including those for certain secondary metabolites, are grouped [38]. The cluster has been sequenced and annotated in its entirety[39]. Understanding the biosynthesis of aflatoxin is hoped to aid in the creation of control methods as well as provide insight into how and why aflatoxin developed. A. flavus, 30 aflatoxin In there are around genes in synthesis, including fatty acid synthases, as well as a major regulatory gene (AfIR). When mutations of fatty acid Synthase were encountered with Hexanoic acid, the synthesis of secondary metabolites was preserved in mutants, according to a study on Aspergillus nidulans. It was suggested that polyketides are the frontline for the development of therapeutics against aflatoxin contamination in various agricultural crops[40]. The application of the biological agent to out-compete toxic effects of aflatoxins in pre- and postharvested food crops has proven to be effective in reducing aflatoxin contamination; however, certain limitations exist.

#### **1.3.9 COMPUTATIONAL APPROACH TO CONTEMPLATE STUDY**

Understanding the mechanism of aflatoxin inhibition could be aided by a computational approach. As a result, developing a novel target necessitates an understanding of the host's mRNA and protein expression systems in response to stress. To best explain the interaction between Quercetin, Gallic acid, and PksA, the protein sequence of PksA from A. flavus was evaluated. Furthermore, utilizing Quercetin and Gallic acid as ligands and Hexanoic acid as a precursor, domains and molecular docking studies were carried out. The total findings of molecular docking and LigPlot analysis, which included binding energy, electrostatic energy, H bonding, bond length, and hydrophobic interaction, suggested that Quercetin, Gallic acid, had the most binding potential with PksA domains in comparison to Hexanoic acid.

#### **1.3.10 SOFTWARES USED**



#### **1.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1.4.1 ANALYSIS OF BIOLOGICAL DATA AND SEQUENCE RETRIEVAL

The complete amino acid sequence of A. flavus polyketide Synthase was acquired from the protein database of NCBI (National Centre For Biological Information), with the NCBI gene ID of 7914331, gene symbol: AFLA\_139410, gene description: AflC / pksA / pksL1 / polyketide Synthase and Uniprot accession number B8NI04\_ASPFN. FASTA SEQUENCE was retrieved from the NCBI database.

#### FASTA -

#### afIC / pksA / pksL1 / polyketide synthase [Aspergillus flavus NRRL3357]

NCBI Reference Sequence: XP\_002379951.1

GenPept Identical Proteins Graphics

>XP 002379951.1 aflC / pksA / pksL1 / polyketide synthase [Aspergillus flavus NRRL3357] MAOSROLFLFGDOTADFVPKLRSLLSVODSPILAAFLDOSHYVVRAOMLOSMNTIDHKLARTADLROMVO KYVDGKLTPAFRTALVCLCQLGCFIREYEESGNMYPQPSDSYVLGFCMGSLAAVAVSCSRSLSELLPIAV QTVLIAFRLGLCALEMRDRVDGCSDDRGDPWSTIVWGLDPQQARDQIEVFCQTTNAPQTRRPWISCISKN AITLSGSPSTLRAFCEMPQMAQHRTALIPICLPAHNGALFTQADITTILDTTPTTPWEQLPGQIPYISHV TGNVVQTTNYRDLIEVALSETLLEQVRLDLVETGLPRLLQSRQVKSVTIVPFLTRMNETMSNILPVSFIS TETRTDTGRAIPASGRPGAGKCKLAIVSMSGRFPESPTTESFWDLLYKGLDVCKEVPRRRWDINTHVDPS GKARNKGATKWGCWLDFSGEFDPRFFGISPKEAPQMDPAQRMALMSTYEAMERAGLVPDTTPSTQRDRIG VFHGVTSNDWMETNTAONIDTYFITGGNRGFIPGRINFCFEFAGPSYTNDTACSSSLAAIHLACNSLWRG DCDTAVAGGTNMIYTPDGHTGLDKGFFLSRTGNCKPYDDKADGYCRAEGVGTVFIKRLEDALADNDPILG VILDAKTNHSAMSESMTRPHVGAQIDNMTAALNTTGLHPNDFSYIEMHGTGTQVGDAVEMESVLSVFAPS ETARKADOPLFVGSAKANVGHGEGVSGVTSLIKVLMMMOHDTIPPHCGIKPGSKINRNFPDLGARNVHIA FEPKPWPRTHTPRRVLINNFSAAGGNTALILEDAPERHWPTEKDPRSSHIVALSAHVGASMKTNLERLHO YLLKNPHTDLAQLSYTTTARRWHYLHRVSVTGASVEEVTRKLEMAIQNGDGVSRPKSKPKILFAFTGQGS QYATMGKQVYDAYPSFREDLEKFDRLAQSHGFPSFLHVCTSPKGDVEEMAPVVVQLAITCLQMALTNLMT YFGIRADVTVGHSLGEFAALYAAGVLSASDVVYLVGQRAELLQERCQRGTHAMLAVKATPEALSQWIRDH DCEVACINGPEDTVLSGTTKNVAEVQRAMTDNGIKCTLLKLPFAFHSAQVQPILDDFEALAQGATFAKPQ LPILSPLLRTEIHEQGVVTPSYVAQHCRHTVDMAQALRSAREKGLIDDKTLVIELGPKPLISGMVKMTLG DKISTLPTLAPNKAIWPSLOKILTSVYTGGWDINWKNYHAPFASSOKVVDLPSYGWDLKDYYIPYOGDWC LHRHOODCKCAAPGHEIKTADYOVPPESTPHRPSKLDPSKEAFPEIKTTTLHRVVEETTKPLGATLVVE TDISRKDVNGLARGHLVDGIPLCTPSFYADIAMQVGQYSMQRLRAGHPGAGAIDGLVDVSDMVVDKALVP HGKGPQLLRTTLTMEWPPKAAATTRSAKVKFATYFADGKLDTEHASCTVRFTSDAQLKSLRRSVSEYKTH IROLHDGHAKGOFMRYNRKTGYKLMSSMARFNPDYMLLDYLVLNEAENEAASGVDFSLGSSEGTFAAHPA HVDAITQVAGFAMNANDNVDIEKQVYVNHGWDSFQIYQPLDNSKSYQVYTKMCQAKENDLVHGDVVVLDG EQIVAFFRGLTLRSVPRGALRVVLQTTVKKADRQLGFKTMPSPPPPTTTMPISPYKPANTQVSSQAIPAE ATHSHTPQQPKHSPVPETAGSAPAAKGVGVSNEKLDAVMRVVSEESGIALEELTDDSNFADMGIDSLSSM VIGSRFREDLGLDLGPEFSLFIDCTTVRALEDFMLGSGDAGSGSNVEDPPPSATPAINPEIDWSSSASDS IFASEDHGHSSESGADTGSPPALDLKPYCRPSTSVVLQGLPMVARKTLFMLPDGGGSAFSYASLPRLKSD TAVVGLNCPYARDPENMNCTHGAMIESFCNEIRRRQPRGPYHLGGWSSGGAFAYVVAEALVNQGEEVHSL IIIDAPIPOAMEOLPRAFYEHCNSIGLFATOPGASPDGSTEPPSYLIPHFIAVVDVMLDYKLAPLHARRM PKVGIVWAADTVMDERDAPKMKGMHFMIQKRTEFGPDGWDTIMPGASFDIVRADGANHFTLMQKEHVSII SDL TDRVMD

#### FIGURE 3 : FASTA SEQUENCE OF POLYKETIDE SYNTHASE

#### **1.4.2 Protein Blast for finding Homologous sequences**

The regions of similarity between the native sequence and other sequences were found using

BLAST, The FASTA sequence was used as a QUERY to search for homologous sequences using

BLAST in NCBI.

	Standard Protein BLAST	
blastn blastp blast	tblastn tblastx	
Enter Query S Enter accession r	BLASTP programs search protein databases using a protein query. more equence umber(s), gi(s), or FASTA sequence(s) i Ciazz Query subrange i	Reset page Bookmark
XP_002379951.1	From To	BLAST has New Default Parameters and Search Limits. Click here for more info.
Or, upload file	Choose File No file chosen	
Job Title		
	Enter a descriptive title for your BLAST search 🤢	
Align two or me	re sequences 😡	
Choose Searc	h Set	
Database	Non-redundant protein sequences (nr)	
Organism Optional	Enter organism name or id-completions will be suggested Ceckude Techer organism common name, binomial, or tax id: Only 20 top taxa will be shown.	
Exclude Optional	Models (XM/XP) Non-redundant RefSeq proteins (WP) Uncultured/environmental sample sequences	
Program Sele	zion	
Algorithm	Quick BLASTP (Accelerated protein-protein BLAST)     @ blasts (protein-protein BLAST)     PSI-BLAST (Postein-Specific Iterated BLAST)     PH-BLAST (Partern Hit Initiated BLAST)     OELTA-BLAST (Onmain Enhanced Lookup Time Accelerated BLAST)     Choose a BLAST algorithm	
BLAST	Search database mr using Blastp (protein-protein BLAST) Show results in a new window	

## FIGURE 4 : PROTEIN BLAST

The homologous sequences of more than 90% sequence identity were retrieved.

D	escr	iptions	Graphic Summary	Alignments	Taxonomy									
S	equ	iences pr	oducing significant a	lignments		Down	nload 🗡	Μ	lanag	e Colui	mns ~	Show	100 🗸 🔞	
C	a se	elect all 10	00 sequences selected			Ge	nPept <u>G</u>	raphic	<u>s Di</u>	stance	tree of r	results M	ultiple alignment	
				Desc	ription			Max Score	Total Score	Query Cover	E value	Per. Ident	Accession	
C		afIC / pksA / p	oksL1 / polyketide synthase [As	pergillus flavus NRRL3	357]			4400	4400	100%	0.0	100.00%	XP_002379951.1	
C		PksA [Asperg	illus sp. L]					4398	4398	100%	0.0	99.95%	AAR32704.2	
C		PksA [Asperg	illus flavus]					4380	4380	100%	0.0	99.48%	AAS90022.1	
C		unnamed pro	tein product [Aspergillus oryzae	e RIB40]				4370	4370	99%	0.0	99.34%	XP_001821511.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus novopara	asiticus]				4356	4356	99%	0.0	99.15%	KAB8219501.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus miniscler	otigenes]				4354	4354	99%	0.0	99.00%	KAB8269225.1	
C		RecName: Fu	III=Norsolorinic acid synthase;	Short=NSAS; AltName:	Full=Aflatoxin biosy	thesis polyketide synthase; AltName:	Full=Aflato	4351	4351	99%	0.0	99.05%	<u>Q12053.1</u>	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus parasiticu	<u>[a.</u>				4348	4348	99%	0.0	98.96%	KAB8203745.1	
C		afIC / pksA / p	<u>oksL1 / polyketide synthase [As</u>	pergillus flavus]				4323	4323	100%	0.0	98.48%	RAQ57031.1	
C		sterigmatocys	<u>stin biosynthesis polyketide syn</u>	thase [Aspergillus arac	hidicola]			4312	4312	99%	0.0	98.01%	PIG79625.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus arachidic	ola]				4309	4309	99%	0.0	97.96%	KAE8343355.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus sergii]					4254	4254	99%	0.0	96.54%	KAE8324421.1	
C		PksA [Asperg	illus flavus]					4253	4253	99%	0.0	96.63%	AAS89999.1	
C		polyketide sy	nthase module [Aspergillus ory:	zae 3.042]				4173	4173	95%	0.0	99.30%	EIT81356.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus pseudoca	aelatus]				4130	4130	99%	0.0	94.83%	KAE8422591.1	
C		polyketide sy	nthase [Aspergillus oryzae]					4130	4130	94%	0.0	99.35%	BAE71314.1	
C		sterigmatocys	stin biosynthesis polyketide syn	thase [Aspergillus nom	iae NRRL 13137]			4120	4120	99%	0.0	93.79%	XP_015404703.1	
C		PksA [Asperg	illus nomiae]					4110	4110	99%	0.0	93.69%	AAS90047.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus pseudone	omius]				4092	4092	99%	0.0	93.45%	XP_031938119.1	
C		Noranthrone	synthase [Aspergillus pseudone	omius]				4073	4073	99%	0.0	92.34%	KAB8256216.1	
		Noranthrone	synthase (Aspergillus pseudota	marii)				4069	4069	99%	0.0	94.12%	XP_031907426.1	

FIGURE 5 : HOMOLOGOUS SEQUENCES

## 1.4.3 Homology modeling and Phylogenetic analysis

A phylogenetic tree is a branching diagram that depicts the phylogenetic connection between diverse biological species based upon similarities and differences in their structure and function. Following the Maximum likelihood, the method provides probabilities of the sequences given a model of their evolution. The more probable the sequences are given in the tree, the more the tree is preferred. The homologous sequences with more than 90% identity were aligned using the MEGA 6.06 tool and as a result, a phylogenetic tree was constructed, using the maximum likelihood method.



#### FIGURE 6: PHYLOGENETIC TREE OF HOMOLOGOUS SEQUENCES

#### **1.4.4 LIGAND PREPARATION**

Ligands must be prepared to create 3-D geometrics, assign proper bond orders, charges, hydrogens, and minimize the structure. Ligand preparation is done before docking for energy minimization as it

is used to reduce the overall potential energy of the ligand since biological systems are very dynamic and have low potential energies (-ve delta G) for Spontaneous interactions. Less is the energy, more spontaneous will be the interactions.

#### SOFTWARE AND DATABASE USED: PubChem and UCSF CHIMERA.

#### **STEPS INVOLVED IN LIGAND PREPARATION :**

- Opened UCSF Chimera for VISUALIZATION and ANALYSIS of molecular structures, used for ligand preparation before docking.
- 2. Opened PubChem in the browser and type inhibitor (ligand) name i.e. GALLIC ACID and HEXANOIC ACID.
- Opened PubChem in the browser and type inhibition (ligand) name i.e. GALLIC ACID and HEXANOIC ACID.
- 4. In UCSF Chimera Tools, go to Structure Editing followed by Build Structure. Paste the SMILES string that we have copied from PubChem and apply.
- 5. Now, the ligand molecule was built.
- 6. Opened Tools and did Structure Editing to Minimize Structure (here the steepest descent steps are set as 1000 and Conjugate gradient steps as 1000)
- 7. The Add hydrogens window poped-up, clicked OK, then Assigned Charges to minimize select Gasteiger and entered OK. This showed the net charge of the molecule. Clicked OK.Saved ligand to the working directory: saved as .mol2



FIGURE 7: GALLIC ACID LIGAND VISUALIZATION IN PYMOL

## 1.4.5 Analysis of molecular properties of ligands

In the UCSF chimera, a three-dimensional structure of both ligands including Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid was developed, which was visualized in Pymol, and **Table 1** shows the results of Lipinski's five-rule evaluation. The results revealed drug-like attributes for these two ligands, along with three - dimensional structure for molecular docking research.



FIGURE 8: Three-dimensional structure of Gallic Acid (PubChem CID:370) and hexanoic acid (Id: 8892) were obtained from Pubchem

Compoun	Molecular	H-bond	H-bond	Log P	Molecular	Pubchem	Molecular
d	weight	donor	acceptor		Refractivit	Cid	formula
					у		
Hexanoic	116.16g/m	1	2	1.92	125.3074	8892	C6H12O2
acid	ol						
Gallic	170.12g/m	4	5	0.7	100.4250	370	C7H605
acid	ol						

TABLE 1: Lipinski's rule of 5 outlines the molecular properties of ligands

## 1.4.6 PROTEIN STRUCTURE PREPARATION

## SOFTWARE AND DATABASE USED: NCBI, SWISS MODEL, AND UCSF CHIMERA

1. Seven different domains of PksA from A.flavus with their respective locations were retrieved from the GENE database of NCBI.

2. Took the protein sequence from the UniProt knowledge database, extracted the desired located sequence from the whole protein sequence for each domain.

3. The SWISS-MODEL service was used to design all seven domains of PksA, and the best feasible model was chosen based on the sequence discovered for homology modeling. To locate templates

and align target templates, the SWISS-MODEL template library employs the BLAST and HHblits search engines.



Figure 9 – Swiss model analysis

4. These methods ensure strong alignment at all levels of sequence identity, resulting in an experimental approach, resolution (if applicable), quaternary state assignment, sequence identity to the target, coverage, as well as other factors that point to the best possible template for our structure.

5. For further investigation, all protein structures are stored in PDB format.

6. Opened UCSF Chimera for VISUALIZATION and ANALYSIS of molecular structures of seven domains, used for protein preparation before docking.

7.Selected Tools -> Structure Editing -> Minimize Structure (here set steepest descent steps: 100 and Conjugate gradient steps:100) -> Minimize

8.Added hydrogens, then Assigned Charges to minimize select Gasteiger and enter OK. This will show the net charge of the molecule. Click OK.

9. Saved the protein to the working directory: save as .pdb.

DOMAIN NAME	SMTL ID	SEQUENCE IDENTITY
ACP Trans acylase domain	<u>6fij.1.A</u>	32.49%
Beta-Ketoacyl Synthase	<u>6fij.1.A</u>	58.78%
Acyl Transferase Domain	<u>6fik.1.B</u>	39.60%
PKS Product Template Domain	<u>3hrr.1.A</u>	99.69%
Phosphopantetheine Attachment	<u>2kr5.1.A</u>	98.53%
Site		
Thioesterase Domain	<u>3ils.1.A</u>	99.58%
Ketoacyl-synthetase C-terminal	<u>6fij.1.A</u>	55.70%
extension		

TABLE 2: TABLE OF SEVEN DOMAINS WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE SMTL ID AND SEQUENCE IDENTITY

1.4.7 Structure stability of protein validated by the Ramachandran plot using Procheck server

Protein structures saved in the PDB format from the Swiss model were validated by PROCHECK as shown in the following table 3.

DOMAIN	DOMAIN STRUCTURE	RAMACHANDRAN PLOT
ACP TRANSACYLASE DOMAIN		180 135- 90 45- 45- -45- -45- -150- -135- -135- -135- -90 -135- -135- -90 -135- -135- -90 -135- -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -90 -135- -135- -90 -135- -135- -90 -135-









# TABLE 3: STRUCTURE STABILITY VALIDATED BY THE RAMACHANDRAN PLOT USING PROCHECK SOFTWARE

#### **1.4.8 MOLECULAR DOCKING STUDIES**

Molecular docking is an intriguing scaffold for comprehending drug biomolecular encounters for rational drug design and discovery including in mechanistic research by placing a molecule (ligand) in a non-covalent way into the selected binding site of the target-specific expanse of the DNA/protein (receptor) to produce a stabilized complex with probable effectiveness and better specificity. The binding energy, free energy, and stability of complexes can all be estimated using the docking technique's data. Currently, the docking methodology is used to estimate the ligandreceptor complex's putative binding characteristics in advance. The basic goal of molecular docking is to create a ligand-receptor combination that has an optimal conformation and has a lower binding free energy. The net anticipated binding free energy (Gbind) is expressed in terms of different characteristics, including hydrogen bond (Ghbond), electrostatic (Gelec), torsional free energy (Gtor), dispersion and repulsion (Gvdw), desolvation (Gdesolv), and total binding free energy (Gbind), total internal energy ( $\Delta$ Gtotal) and unbound system's energy ( $\Delta$ Gunb). As a result, a thorough grasp of the basic ethics that control anticipated binding free energy (Gbind) yields additional insights into the nature of diverse types of interactions that lead to molecular docking. Quercetin and Gallic acid were docked with seven distinct domains for A.flavus PksA and compared to the substrate, namely Hexanoic acid, which is known to be involved in PksA activation as well as the control of aflatoxin biosynthesis.

#### 1.4.8.1 DOCKING USING AUTODOCK 4.2

Bioinformatics has finally advanced to the level that it can practically predict the molecular interactions that maintain a protein and ligand-bound in the bound state. The AutoDock software was developed to provide a mechanism for projecting the interaction of micro molecules with macromolecular targets that can readily differentiate amongst compounds with micromolar and nanomolar binding constants, as well as rank molecules with lower affinity differences. Testing a variety of compounds or compounds with specialized binding qualities, alterations to an already existing compound The current work is a full description of the protocol for making AutoDock more user-friendly. The initial step is to locate the Ligand and Target.pdb files that are necessary from major databases. The second step is to use AutoDock 4.2 to create PDBQT format files for Target and Ligand (Target.pdbqt, Lig-and.pdbqt) as well as Grid and Docking Parameter files (a.gpf and a.dpf).

#### **1.4.8.2** Grid Generation (open docking) in AutoDock

- 1.File -> Read Molecule -> protein.pdb(prepared protein)
- 2.Edit -> Delete Water
- 3.Edit -> Hydrogens -> Add H -> Ok
- 4.Edit -> Charges -> Add Kollman charges
- 5.Edit -> Charges -> Compute Gastegier charges
- 6.Atoms -> Assign AD4 type
- 7.File -> Save -> Write PDBQT
- 8.Ligand -> Input -> Open -> .mol2 files(prepared ligand) -> Ok
- 9. Ligand -> Output -> Write PDBQT
- 10. Grid -> Macromolecule -> Choose -> protein -> Save as .pdbqt
- 11. Grid -> Grid Box -> adjust the grid covering all of the protein molecules, set the no. of X, Y, Z

dimensions, and spacing accordingly.

- 12. File -> Close saving current
- 13. Grids -> Output -> gpf -> save as grid.gpf

#### • Auto Grid

1. Run -> Auto-Grid -> Program Pathname -> Browse -> C Drive -> (XProgram Files) -> The

Scripps Research Institute -> Autodock -> 4.2.6 -> autogrid.

2. For parameter filename -> Browse -> grid.gpf.

3. Automatically a log filename file grid.glg will be created -> Launch

#### • Auto Dock

- 1. Docking -> Macromolecule -> RigidFilename -> protein.pdb
- 2. Docking -> Ligand -> Choose -> .mol2 file -> Accept
- 3. Docking -> Output -> Lamarkian -> Save as dock.dpf
- 4. Run -> Auto-Dock -> Program Pathname -> Browse -> C Drive -> (XProgram Files) ->

TheScripps Research Institute -> Autodock -> 4.2.6 -> autodock.

5. For parameter filename -> Browse ->dock.dpf.

6. Automatically a log filename file dock.dlg will be created -> Launch

#### **1.4.9 LIGPLOT ANALYSIS**

GALLIC ACID	HEXANOIC ACID	GALLIC ACID	HEXANOIC ACID
ACP TRANSACYLASE DOMAIN		PT DOMAIN	




Table 4 - Post-docking correlations among active residues of seven domains of Aspergillus flavus PksA with 2 distinct ligands i.e. Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid, as depicted in a schematic diagram created with LigPlot.

### **1.4.10 MOLECULAR DYNAMIC SIMULATIONS**

MD (molecular dynamics) is a computer modeling technique for studying the physical movements of molecules and atoms. For a fixed period, the atoms and molecules are allowed to interact, providing a glimpse of the dynamic "evolution" of the system. Atomic and molecular trajectories are calculated in the most common version by Using interatomic potentials or force field molecular dynamics, mathematically analyzing Newton's equations of motion for a particle communicating device, whereby forces between both the particles and their potential energies also are gauged.

Simulations are required to see how a molecule attaches to its receptor and how it affects the binding ability of molecules that bind elsewhere (in part by changing the configuration of the protein). Protein-Ligand Complex was prepared using Pymol tool by editing Protein-ligand docked output files, creating the TOP-POSE protein-ligand complex. Parameterization of Protein-ligand Complex was done using Open-Babel and VMD software(http://www.ks.uiuc.edu/Research/vmd/) to start MD simulation by creating topology files for bound ligands. The Solvation Box was created and Force field CHARMm was set as a simulation parameter. MD Simulations were run by creating Minimizing it a system and using NAMD software(https://www.ks.uiuc.edu/Research/namd/) where the results included Analysis of Trajectories, RMSD,RMSF, Hydrogen bonding, and Ramachandran plot which Mimics what atoms do with the potential energy function in real life and analyzes the physical movements of atoms and molecules as provided the positions of the other atoms, the energy equation can be used to measure the force encountered by any atom. Gallic acid simulation analysis is shown in table 5.



### FIGURE 10 : STEPS INVOLVED IN MD SIMULATION

DOMAINS	AVG	STSD	MIN	MAX	NUM
ACP	1.88	0.68	0.09	3.99	102
AT	2.15	0.58	0.09	0.89	102
СТ	1.35	0.24	0.04	1.58	102
KS	0.80	0.13	0.05	0.94	102
РР	0.97	0.19	0.04	1.17	102
РТ	1.73	0.45	0.05	3.21	102
TH	0.83	0.15	0.03	0.98	102

### TABLE 5: TABLE OF SIMULATION OF GALLIC ACID

**note** - avg, max, min, stdev and num >: When using the -all frames argument, this specifies the rule to use to merge frames. These correspond to retaining the average, maximum, and minimum values from the measured frames' set. The standard deviation for each point over the range of frames will be returned by stdev and num specifies the no. of atoms selected

## 1.5.1 HOMOLOGY MODELING, SEQUENCE ALIGNMENT, AND PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS

Protein BLAST identified regions of similarity between the biological sequences of proteins by Comparing them with databases of sequences and measuring their statistical importance. The results showed 24 protein sequence (PksA) homologs of more than 90 percentage identity, Based on Query coverage, E-Value and total similarity Ranking, the top 14 homologous sequences have been further analyzed to study the phylogenetic makeup of *A. flavus* PksA. The PksA array of A. Flavus is close to that of *Aspergillus* species, primarily *A. oryzae*, *A. parasiticus*, *A. Pseudo Nomius*, *A. novoparasiticus*, *A. sergii*, *A. Arachidicola*, and *A. minisclerotigenes*, according to the evolutionary tree shown in Fig. 6. In the UCSF chimera, a three-dimensional structure of both ligands including gallic acid and hexanoic acid was developed, which was visualized in Pymol. Table 1 shows the results of Lipinski's five-rule evaluation.

The results revealed drug-like attributes for these two ligands, along with three - dimensional structure for molecular docking research. The NCBI conserved domain sequence database revealed that *A. flavus* has seven distinct PksA domains. The SWISS-MODEL server has been used to model only those seven PksA domains, and the absolute best model was selected depending upon the sequence specified for homology modeling (TABLE 3). The SWISS-MODEL Template Library uses the BLAST and HHblits scanning engines to find models and match them with target templates. These methodologies apply to experimental methods by ensuring operational alignments at all levels of sequence recognition, indicating the best template mechanism available for our structure. Table 2 shows the sequence of aligned and extracted templates with their respective

template id. By analyzing residue-by-residue geometry and overall structure geometry, the stereo chemical consistency of a protein structure is tested using the Procheck server. The findings showed that 86.7–94.3 percent of all regions were in the most preferred area, 5.3–13.3 percent in the additionally permitted region, 0.0–1.5 percent in the generously allowed region, and 0–1.4 percent in the disallowed region, according to the Ramachandran plot. The average goodness factor (G factor) was found to be between -0.02 and -0.24. The ERRAT tool measured the trends of non-bonded interaction of various types of atoms and plotted the magnitude of the error function against the position of the sliding window of 9 residues, which was determined using statistics from highly refined structures. The result indicated the overall quality factors of seven domain structures which ranged between 63.04 - 97.53. As a result, homology models were used in molecular docking studies based on these validations.

### **1.5.2 DOCKING CORRELATIONS VALIDATED BY LIGPLOT ANALYSIS**

Quercetin, Gallic acid was showcased to interact with different A. Flavus domains and was linked to the substrate, Hexanoic acid, which is also active in PksA enhancement and aflatoxin biosynthesis control. **Table 6** shows the prominence-derived dock scores for free binding energy, intermolecular energy, electrostatic energy, and inhibition constant values. In all domains, the binding energy of Gallic acid was observed to be significantly lower than with Hexanoic acid. Gallic acid had binding energy of 6.09 to 4.79 kcal/mol, while Hexanoic acid had binding energy of 5.05 to 3.36 kcal/mol and the electrostatic energy of Gallic acid (0.81 to 0.26 kcal/mol) and Hexanoic acid (0.44 to 0.01 kcal/mol) are highly comparable. Intermolecular energy is directly proportionate to binding energy, which was between 7.58 and 6.29 kcal/mol for Hexanoic acid and

between 6.54 and 4.85 kcal/mol for Hexanoic acid. A reduction in intermolecular energy was observed along with Final Internal Energy which is in the range of -1.68 and -1.03 in Gallic acid and -0.17 and -0.06 in Hexanoic acid, implying that Gallic acid is a more effective binder with these domains. However, Quercetin showed the highest binding energy i.e -6.82 kcal/mol to -4.76 kcal/mol.

The Hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic active sites of Gallic acid, as well as Hexanoic acid with seven main domains of PksA, were identified and compared using LigPlot tools. Out of seven domains, Both Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid showed the maximum inhibition with Thioesterase Domain and lowest inhibition potential with Phosphopantetheine attachment domain. Gallic acid formed 7 H bonds, while Hexanoic acid formed 3 H bonds, according to LigPlot research. When the acyl transferase domain interacts with it, both Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid showed H bond formation at Glu36, Arg8, Thr11 positions. Also, in the Phosphopantetheine attachment domain, Gallic acid creates six hydrogen bonds in contrast to the one in Hexanoic acid. In ACP, TH, KS, PT Domains, No. of H bonds were observed more as compared to Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid. Since in correlation to Hexanoic acid, Gallic acid showed the maximum binding long-term potential (maximum proportion of Hydrogen bonding) well with PksA domain; therefore, Gallic acid can inhibit by collegiately binding well to polyketide Synthase domains. This comparative analysis is shown in **table 7**.

PROTEIN	LIGANDS	BINDING	INHIBITION	INTERMOL-	ELECTRO	TOTAL
DOMAINS		ENERGY	CONSTANT	CULAR	STATIC	INTERNAL
		(kcal/mol)	( <b>uM</b> -	ENERGY	ENERGY	ENERGY
			micromolar)	(kcal/mol)	(kcal/mol)	(kcal/mol)
ACP transacylase	QUERCETIN	-6.44	19.16	-8.23	-0.19	-2.30
domain						
	GALLIC ACID	-5.25	546.00	-6.47	-0.27	-1.66
	UEVANOIC	4 47	531.02	5.06	0.20	0.10
	ΠΕΛΑΝΟΙΟ	-4.4/	551.02	-5.90	-0.29	-0.18
	ACID					
β-Ketoacyl	QUERCETIN	-6.82	9.95	-8.61	-0.49	-2.62
synthase domain						
	GALLIC ACID	-5.29	131.53	-6.79	-0.15	-1.23
	0	•••				
	HEXANOIC	-4.55	463.24	-6.04	-0.40	+0.00
	ACID					
Ketoacyl synthase	QUERCETIN	-5.30	129.48	-7.09	-0.13	-2.70
C-terminal						

domain						
		170	211.02	( )9	0.22	1.25
	GALLIC ACID	-4./8	511.02	-0.28	-0.32	-1.35
		2.01	1(10	5.20	0.27	0.00
	HEXANOIC	-3.81	1610	-5.30	-0.37	-0.09
	ACID					
	ncib					
Acyl Transferase	QUERCETIN	-4.76	324.97	-6.55	-0.07	-2.78
domain						
	GALLIC ACID	-4.48	520.00	-5.97	-0.10	-1.66
	Gilline help		<b>C2</b> 0.00		0.10	1.00
		2.05	1500	<b>5 3 5</b>	0.10	0.15
	HEXANOIC	-3.85	1500	-5.35	-0.19	-0.15
	ACID					
	ACID					
DDOTEIN		DIMDING	INITIDIZIO	INTERNAL		
PROTEIN	LIGANDS	BINDING	INHIBITIO	INTERMOL	ELECTR	INTERNA
		ENERGY	Ν	ECULAR	OSTATI	L
						-
			CONSTANT	ENERGY	С	ENERGY
					ENERGY	
Duoduot torrelat	OUEDOETIN	( 05	26.97	7.04	0.17	2.72
r rouuci tempiate	VUERCEIIN	-0.03	30.07	-/.04	-0.1/	-2.12

domain						
	GALLIC ACID	-4.86	272.33	-6.35	-0.23	-1.29
	HEXANOIC	-3.81	1610	-5.30	-0.37	-0.09
	ACID					
	non					
Phosphopantet-	QUERCETIN	-5.21	150.85	-7.00	-0.51	-2.72
heine attachment						
site	GALLIC ACID	-4.83	287.97	-6.32	-0.75	-1.00
	HEXANOIC	-3.36	3360	-4.85	-0.49	-0.12
	ACID					
Thiosterase	QUERCETIN	-5.90	47.03	-7.68	-0.15	-2.73
domain						
	GALLIC ACID	-5.97	41.79	-7.47	-0.53	-0.88
		100			0.10	0.15
	HEXANOIC	-4.83	1470	-5.36	-0.10	-0.15
	ACID					

TABLE 6 : Comparative analysis of known protein domains and ligands (Gallic acid, Quercetin and Hexanoic acid) on target molecule domains on the basis of Binding energy, Intermolecular energy, electrostatic energy, Inhibition constant and Total internal energy

PROTEIN DOMAINS	LIGAN D	NO. OF HYDROGEN	HYDROGE N	BOND LENGTH()	HYDROPHOBIC BONDING
		BOND8	BUNDING		
	GA	4	Leu70, Gln6	2.95,2.90,2.81,2.75	Arg75,Tyr65, Pro232
ACP	НА	3	Tyr65,	2.90,2.87,2.80	Gly68,Leu70,Pro232
			Arg75,		
	QU	5	Asp159	2.90,2.73,2.05,3.06	Cys156,Gly161,Leu147,Arg1
			Ser157	,	50,
			Asp162	3.08	Pro72,Arg160z
			Cys234		
	GA	5	Glu36,	3.21,3.07,2.98,2.96	Glu32,Ala34,Pro12,Asp33,
			Arg8,	,2.73	His10,Pro35
			Thr11		
СТ	НА	3	Glu36,	3.09,3.03,2.63	Pro12,Pro35,Ala34,Asp33,
			Arg8,		CHis10
			Thr11		

	QU	3	Glu42,	2.70,3.15 , 3.08	Thr41 , Ala81 , leu 80 ,
			Leu83		His49,
					Arg46 , Ser47 , Asp44 ,
					Lys43
		4	Asp174,	3.11,2.68,2.79,2.72	Lys194,Thr175,Asn221,Phe1
	GA		His222,		90,Met191,Asp98
			Arg195		,Gln193
	HA	1	Phe190	3.32	Thr175,Gln193,Val76,Asp98,
ТН					Met191,Ala173,His222,
					Ala172,Asp174,Arg195,Lys1
					94
	QU	5	Ala12	2.68,2.72,3.11,3.02	Phe13, Ala16, Val27, Thr25
			Leu21	,	,
			Leu18	2.63	Ala26, Arg20, Phe19
			Tyr15		
		6	Glu66,	2.74,3.00, 2.55,	Met4,Val62,Thr19
	GA		Arg63,	2.89	
			Leu18,	3.26, 2.70	
			Asp20		
	НА	1	Arg63	2.87	Val62,Asp20,Glu66
PP					
	QU	5	Phe68	2.82,2.58,2.90,3.29	Leu65
			Ala2	,	Leu47

			Asp1	2.97	Val3
			- -		
			Leu45		
	GA	3	Ser12,	3.15,2.79,2.64	Arg8, Leu61, Glu11, Phe63,
			Trp60,		Pro13, Phe9
			Asp62		
	HA	2	Ile258	2.89,2.76	Lys242, Leu183, Ile241,
					Val257 , Trp184, Arg243
					Cys180, Ala1
KS	QU	4	Glu245	2.97 , 2.93 ,2.94 ,	Arg243
			Ala1	2.99	Leu244
			Cys180		Val257
					Ile258
					Ile241
					Leu183
					Trp184
	GA	3	Phe227,	3.10,3.05,2.70	His233, Ala228, Thr226
			His230,		
			Leu272		
	HA	0	-	-	Met187,Gly183,Leu200,Arg1
РТ					80, Leu203, Tyr178,
					Phe243,Tyr184,Tyr202

	QU	6	His261,	2.95,2.36,2.96,3.12	Leu90, Val86,
			Asn260	,	Asp87,Arg315,Ala89, Lys88
			Cys45	2.83,2.78	Leu44
			Tyr50		
	GA	7	His246,	2.92,2.92,3.03,3.16	Leu122,Phe195,Cys247
			His196,Ser93	,	
			Leu94,Gln65,	2.92,2.57,3.12	
			Arg118		
AT	HA	3	Gln8,Leu94,	2.59,3.05,3.15	Phe195,His246,His196,Arg11
			Ser93		8
					,Gly7
	QU	5	His150,His19	2.53,2.89,2.79,2.68	Cys152,
			6,Arg248 ,	,	Glu153,Thr250,His249
			Val154	2.51	

TABLE 7 : COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS ON THE BASIS OF HYDROPHOBIC AND HYDROGEN BONDING OF QUERCETIN, GALLIC ACID AND HEXANOIC ACID WITH DIFFERENT PksA DOMAINS OF ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS

**1.5.3 SIMULATION** 

To gain a better understanding of protein binding affinity and to obtain dynamic insights into complex systems, MD simulations had been conducted . MD simulations were conducted on the processed hits from molecular docking experiments of Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid as reference inhibitor by using VMD as a molecular visualization software that uses 3D graphics and integrated scripting to view, animate, and analyze large bio-molecular structures of protein and ligand and NAMD software has been a parallel molecular dynamics code that uses the CHARMM27 force field as a simulation parameter for elevated simulation of complex bio-molecular systems. Simulations of molecular dynamics are used to model the diverse behavior of molecular systems over time. This system makes it possible for researchers to better comprehend the versatility and complexities of protein-drug binding. To every chosen molecule, a specific simulation system was developed. Open-babel software was used to create simulation parameters for all ligands. Simulations were run in a solvation box with its periodic boundary conditions with systems neutralized by incorporating counter ions to it. To prevent steric clashes, an energy minimization component to every system was performed employing 5000 steps of the steepest descent algorithm and a total force of Thousand kJ/mol. The PME grid size was set 100 x 100 x 100 grid points and the temperature was set as 310 and MD simulations were run for 5000 steps. The root means the square value of Backbone atoms of proteins and energy profiles that can be measured using simulations of both Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid showed that the simulated systems are fairly stable. The RMSD values in the case of Gallic acid were between 0.80 nm and 2.15 nm for pksa -Gallic acid complexes and 0.62 nm and 1.47 nm in pksa-hexanoic acid complexes. Shifting RMSD values within the first few nanoseconds of simulations demonstrate the initial alteration of ligands at the active site of pksa. RMSD measurements were performed for the chosen molecule via the selected frames with a reference point of both specified molecule and its respective frame. The

calculation's results appeared in the results list, where these are plotted in 2D or 3D graphs as shown in Figure 12. The results list contains details about the RMSD calculations that have been completed. Yet more RMSD analyses are made by using the heatmap plot function, selection of an appropriate Heatmap plot configuration. Each RMSD metric could very well resemble a singular data point throughout the heatmap shown in Figure 11. The results of this analysis revealed that each simulation model obtained relatively stable potential energy profiles that remained constant during the simulation cycle. These results suggest that all protein-ligand complex structures are stable and consistent, paving the way for further research into binding modes, important molecular interactions, and free energy calculations. As a result, the RMSD, hydrogen bonding and heat map representation depicted Gallic acid to form more Stable RMSD of protein backbone atoms as well as Significant upside energy profiles in comparison to Hexanoic acid.



### FIGURE 11: HEAT MAP OF GALLIC ACID VS. HEXANOIC ACID



FIGURE 12: RMSD TRAJECTORIES OF GALLIC ACID VS. HEXANOIC ACID

#### **1.6 DISCUSSION**

Aspergillus flavus does indeed have an expansive host spectrum as an invasive pathogen which is an unusually prevalent soil fungus. In agriculture, the primary concern with such a fungus is that it induces pharmacologically active toxins called aflatoxin which is carcinogenic in nature and a health threat for animals. In human beings, it is extensively a deceitful pathogen for immunocompromised individuals [5]. Fungal species like Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus nomius, as well as Aspergillus parasiticus, afflict plant species throughout development, growing and preservation are responsible for producing these hazardous toxins. These toxins can endure food production and are recognized being an unpreventable food contaminant by the Food and Drug Administration [41]. Synthetically, aflatoxins are derivatives of difuranceoumarin formed via a polyketide pathway. The key four toxins among sixteen structurally analogous toxins are the G1-G2 and B1- B2 aflatoxins [24]. These characters correspond towards both colors underneath ultraviolet light (green or blue) of its fluorescence and to the figures showing their distance measure of mobility on the chromatographic slender plate. The main naturally produced formidable potent is Aflatoxin B1 as a carcinogenic agent [25]. The multi-domain polyketide Synthase A (PksA) enzyme encompasses a hexanoyl starter unit including seven malonyl-CoA adhesive units, which initiates aflatoxin biosynthesis by synthesizing the protonated norsolorinic acid anthrone in the dynamic aflatoxin B1 pathway. Aflatoxins' biosynthesis genes, as well as those of many secondary metabolites, have been grouped [42]. The whole cluster has also undergone sequencing and transcription [37]. The cluster of genes is eighty-two kb long as well as incorporates twenty-five diversified genes. Comprehending aflatoxin biosynthesis is anticipated to boost the creation of control methods that provide an insight into why and how the aflatoxin has been formulated. The

genome of A. Flavus was lately sequenced [43]. The data thereby establish significant tools for comprehension of both fungus and aflatoxin production. Prevention seems to be the ideal solution to limiting the toxicity of aflatoxins Susceptibility to agricultural crop production. Scientists are gradually considering phytochemicals in comparison to conventional compounds to establish approaches to combat fungal diseases globally from the past few years. The term "Phytochemicals" is assigned to naturally produced, non-nutritive bioactive organic compounds of plant sources that have resistant and disease preventive characteristics. Many phytochemicals have become detrimental to fungi but can be utilized to protect crops, livestock, homo sapiens, food, and feed from toxic fungi. And hence, it's indeed vital to examine a feasible, cost efficiency, and non-toxic mechanism for the preventative measures for fungal degradation thereby creating An opportunity to dissuade artificial preservatives implemented by the utilization of natural plant materials and biological control factors. Experimental data demonstrates Gallic acid exemplifies antiaflatoxigenic and anti-aspergillus functions [2]. A contingent of Tulare walnut pellicle, Gallic acid (GA), clearly indicates a significant inhibition effect against aflatoxin biosynthesis [32]. In-vitro analysis on Gallic acid showed significant inhibition against aspergillus flavus PKS A. Domain [44]. As a result, a computationally integrated study with Aspergillus flavus Polyketide Synthase A (PksA) was carried out to understand the mechanisms involved in underlying Phytochemicals suppression of aflatoxin biosynthesis[1].

In our analysis, Gallic acid, as well as Hexanoic acid as a precursor, exhibited similar binding properties by forming a single Hydrogen bond at Phe190 Position and 4 h bond at Asp174, His222, Arg195 positions. It also indicates a greater binding affinity for Gallic acid comparable to Hexanoic acid as the gallic acid's binding energy was found to be - 6.09 kcal/mol in correlation with Hexanoic acid - 5.05 kcal/mol binding energy in the Thioesterase Domain of PksA . Hydrophobic

interactions indicated that seven amino acids were involved in Gallic acid and eleven amino acids were involved in Hexanoic acid. Photochemical showed stable binding with active site of Polyketide Synthase A (PksA) Demonstrated by persistent RMSD and reliable energy profiles of protein backbone atoms.

In the interaction with Gallic acid, the amino acids Arg75 and Tyr65 were found in the hydrophobic region although precluded in the interplay of Hexanoic acid with the ACP trans acylase domain as Gly68, Leu70 are involved with one common residue Pro232 in Hydrophobic Bonding. This implies that the ACP transacylase domain of PksA has distinct binding sites for Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid. Gallic acid's binding specificity with the ACP trans acylase domain, on the other hand, was found to be greater than hexanoic acid's in terms of binding energy (5.29 kcal/mol vs. 4.10 kcal/mol)and formation of Four H Bonds in Gallic Acid and Three for Hexanoic acid.In contrast to Hexanoic acid, in-silico techniques revealed active binding of Gallic acid with product template domain. Thus, GA is more stable due to the formation of 3 H bonds at Phe227, His230, and Leu272 positions and no bond formation in Hexanoic acid. In addition, among 7 domains of PksA, both ligands had the lowest electrostatic energy (-0.26/-0.01) when they interacted with the PT domain. Gallic acid showed the Highest Intermolecular energy as compared to Hexanoic Acid (-1.68 /-0.09) with product template domain. In Ketoacyl synthetase C-terminal domain-pksa complex, both GA and HA show hydrogen bonding at Glu36, arg8, thr11 positions but ct-pksa with gallic acid is more stable due to the formation of 5 hydrogen bonds in Gallic Acid as compared to 3 h bonds in Hexanoic acid. Among 7 domains, Acyl transferase domain and Phosphopantetheine attachment site showed the highest no. of hydrogen bonding with Gallic Acid i.e. 7 /6 and 3/1 in Hexanoic Acid Respectively. According to our findings, Gallic acid has a stronger binding affinity in these two domains than Hexanoic acid, since GA needs less binding energy for AT (- 4.82

kcal/mol) as well as PP (- 4.79 kcal/mol) whereas Hexanoic acid required - 3.86kcal/mol and - 3.36 kcal/mol, respectively.

Natural components of polyketide undergo various frameworks and biochemical processes and combine with fatty acid synthesis, a subsection of biosynthetic measures. Thioesterase most frequently performs the penultimate metamorphosis catalyzed by polyketide synthases as well as fatty acid synthases. In silico studies of Gallic Acid's interaction with the thioesterase domain of A. flavus, PksA, revealed that Gallic Acid had greater binding energy than Hexanoic Acid(- 6.09 kcal/mol vs - 5.05 kcal/mol) validated by stronger hydrophobic interactions and 4 h bond formation at Asp174, His222, Arg195 positions in GA as compared to 1h bond at Phe190 position suggesting among 7 domains, As a result, TH plays a key role in inhibiting aflatoxin biosynthesis in A. flavus. Also β-Ketoacyl synthase, The PksA domain demonstrated more extensive binding for Gallic Acid than hexanoic acid in respect of binding ability, including H binding and hydrophobic interactions. The molecular docking and molecular dynamic simulation of both Gallic acid and hexanoic acid with every domain of PksA revealed Gallic acid as a promising target for polyketide synthase inhibition based on in-silico analysis utilizing three - dimensional structure of seven domain category of A. flavus and evaluating their properties which include Hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interactions along with its binding affinity and electrostatic energy. Following is the comparative graphical analysis of three ligands i.e. Quercetin, Gallic acid, and Hexanoic acid where Quercetin then Gallic acid showed the highest inhibition than Hexanoic acid.

#### **COMPARATIVE BINDING ENERGY ANALYSIS**

PROTEIN	QUERCETIN	GALLIC ACID	HEXANOIC ACID
DOMAIN NAME	(Kcal/MOL)	(Kcal/MOL)	(Kcal/Mol)
ACP	-6.96	-5.29	-4.10
AT	-5.86	-4.82	-3.86
СТ	-6.20	-4.95	-3.66
KS	-6.94	-5.33	-4.87
РР	-5.90	-4.79	-3.36
РТ	-6.20	-5.17	-4.54
ТН	-6.79	-6.09	-5.05



# COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS ON THE BASIS OF

### CHAPTER 2:

Docking Studies on Shikonin as potential Hsp70 and Hsp90 Phytochemical inhibitor of *Aspergillus terreus* 

### **2.1 INTRODUCTION**

The fungus *Aspergillus terreus* has emerged as a significant opportunistic pathogen. Cancer rates, viral infections, and organ transplantation have all increased, resulting in secondary fungal illnesses [44]. Mortality, high persistence, lack of early diagnosis, and inherent Amphotericin B (AmB) resistance are all symptoms of *A. terreus*. *A. terreus* has gotten more attention in recent years due to an increase in immunocompromised patients. It has a built-in resistance to the conventional medication AmB. In *A. terreus*-diagnosed invasive aspergillosis, antifungal therapy options are limited. It is also a big clinical problem these days due to a greater rate (51%) of IA-related mortality. AmB is a broad-spectrum antifungal medication that is widely utilized. AmBRS was found to be very common (98%) all over the world [45].

#### 2.1.1 PHYTOCHEMICALS AS ANTIFUNGAL THERAPEUTIC

Since 2013, the Leading International Fungal Education (LIFE) platform has recorded the burden of severe fungal illnesses in over 5.7 billion individuals around the world. In addition, 1.5 million deaths are estimated each year. As a result, in the current situation, alternative therapeutic procedures are required that are safe, effective, and environmentally friendly. In this case, **Phytochemicals** are the best option for antifungal action because they are natural.

There is a constant quest for new chemicals and their mechanisms of action to develop highefficacy **antifungals** [19]. Plants are the primary producers of promising natural compounds with therapeutic potential in the treatment of fungal infections. Identification of novel Phytochemicals, as well as the creation of medications with lower toxicity and greater efficacy, are urgently needed. Anthocyanin, thiols, phenolic, flavonoids, tocopherol, and carotenoids are plant compounds generated from various portions of plants. These have a variety of biological effects, including anti-cancer, antioxidant, antibacterial, and anti-inflammatory characteristics.

### 2.1.2 SHIKONIN

**Shikonin** is indeed a naphthoquinone compound that has undergone extensive testing for its pharmacological characteristics including its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties as well as its anti-cancerous, antioxidant, and antimicrobial features. Till now, only a few research have been carried on phytochemicals' action mechanism, cytotoxicity, synergy, including their anti-virulence potential. As a result, we have examined some possible Phytochemicals to expand their medicinal applications. We determined that the evaluated Phytochemicals had an inhibitory impact on *A. terreus*, with Shikonin having the highest efficiency of all. Shikonin suppresses *Aspergillus terreus* multiplication by causing an oxidative burst and inhibits the glyoxylate route, which is an energy-recovery process[46].

#### **2.1.3 ABOUT PROTEIN**

Shikonin was identified to control the **Hsp70 and Hsp90** proteins of *Aspergillus terreus* in vitro. Shikonin stress is exemplified by these heat shock proteins. Previous research has shown that Hsp70 and Hsp90 blockers can overcome AmBRS in A. terreus and are thought to play a role in antifungal stress response in *Aspergilli*.

Hsp70 protein, which is extremely conserved, has played a key function in the fungal system under diverse stress circumstances. In fungus, the genes producing Hsp70 protein are extremely conserved. Hsp70 is a chaperone-dependent as well as independent protein that is required for fungal growth and development. Hsp70 protein functional differentiation is influenced by the presence of Hsp70 in various cellular regions. In addition, fungal hsp70 was shown to be expressed in humans after diverse infections, suggesting that it may be used as a biomarker for illness[46].

Heat shock proteins (Hsp90 and Hsp70) have recently been identified as potential antifungal targets. They are highly expressed in stressful settings, such as antifungal medication treatments, and have a part in normal biological processes in fungi. Hsp90 and Hsp70 inhibitors have also been found to increase the potency of the drug AmB in A. terreus. As a result, a slew of heat shock proteins (Hsp90, Hsp60, and Hsp70) seems to be essential during A. terreus infections. Toxicity has long been a major worry, and medication targets are a new area of research. In the current context, research is focusing on the creation of numerous therapeutic targets to combat numerous fungalrelated diseases in both plants and animals. Due to its vast function in fungal survival under stress situations, Hsps is one such important subject to research on. Hsp90 has been presented as an antifungal target in recent years. Against A. fumigatus and Candida albicans, the Hsp90 inhibitors geldanamycin and its derivatives showed antifungal activity and a synergistic effect with caspofungin. Our research shed light on the biology of A. terreus, particularly the lead molecule shikonin. Docking has been done to see if typical medications like Amphotericin B, Shikonin as a phytochemical, and other significant inhibitors have the best inhibitory effect on Aspergillus terreus Hsp70 and Hsp90 proteins [47].

Strain	MIC values (µg/ml) Agent		FICI	Outcome	
		Alone	Combination		
A. terreus (NCCPF860035)	Shikonin	2.30	1.50	0.828	Additive interaction
	Amphotericin B	3.86	0.90		

Figure 1: In-vitro combinatorial effect of Shikonin and Amphotericin B in Aspergillus terreus

### 2.2 METHODOLOGY

1. LIGAND PREPARATION of Molecule name: Shikonin and precursors named Geldanamycin and Cantharidin using UCSF Chimera tool.

2. PROTEIN PREPARATION of Targets in *Aspergillus terreus*: Hsp70 (Q0D231) and Hsp90 (Q0CE88) using UCSF Chimera.

3. Retrieval of structures of Standard drug: Amphotericin B from DrugBank.

4. Based on studies done till now, precursors (standard inhibitors of Hsp70 and Hsp90) like Geldanamycin and Cantharidin were selected.

5. Molecular Docking was performed between HSP70 AND HSP90 proteins and Shikonin along with the reference precursors[48].

6. Study of *In silico* Pharmacokinetic properties of Shikonin, standard Drug and other precursor inhibitors with Hsp70 and Hsp90 targets of *Aspergillus terreus*.

### 2.3 RESULTS

Ligands	Hsp70 Protein (87.85% identity)
Shikonin	-3.47
Amphotericin B	-3.10
Cantharidin	-4.61

Ligands	Hsp90 Protein
	(81.29% identity)
Shikonin	-6.70
Amphotericin B	-11.10
Geldanamycin	-8.74

### **2.4 CONCLUSION**

Docking Analysis showed Significant Inhibition of Shikonin as a Phytochemicals and its inhibitory precursors along with comparable results of amphotericin B with Hsp70 and Hsp90 targets of *Aspergillus terreus*.

### **3.0 CONFERENCE ATTENDED :**

### NATIONAL CONFERENCE ON BIODIVERSITY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY OF FUNGI &

### 47TH ANNUAL MEETING OF MYCOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF INDIA

#### **DATE**: February 22-24, 2021.

### **3.1 POSTER PRESENTED :**

DOCKING ANALYSIS OF GALLIC ACID AND HEXANOIC ACID WITH POLYKETIDE SYNTHASE, A COMPUTATIONAL APPROACH TO CONTEMPLATE GALLIC ACID - MEDIATED AFLATOXIN BIOSYNTHESIS INHIBITION IN ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS CHHAVI THAKUR. AMANJOT SINGH MALHOTRA. JATA SHANKAR

GENOMICS LABORATORY, DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY AND BIOINFORMATICS, JAYPEE UNIVERSITY OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, SOLAN, HIMACHAL, PRADESH 17224, INDIA

#### chhavi.thakur143@gmail.com, asm7535@gmail.com, jata s@yahoo.com(MSI-21-16)

### BACKGROUND

Aspergillus favus is the major opportunistic contaminant known to produce aflatoxin in food crops. Food contamination via aflatoxins is indeed a nutriment safety concern for agricultural yields. In Human beings, it is extensively deceitful pathogen for immunocompromised individuals. In order to identify and develop novel anti-aflatoxigenic agents, explorative Studies on phytochemicals as anti-aflatoxigenic agents have accrued remarkable importance including Gallic acid which plays a significant role in providing mechanism against it. Thus, to defense understand the molecular mechanism behind inhibition of aflatoxin biosynthesis by Gallic acid and Hexanoic Acid as a precursor, an interactive study with Polyketide Synthase A (PksA) of Aspergillus flavus was à fond conducted.

### OBJECTIVES

TO STUDY PHYTOCHEMICALS AS ANTI-AFLATOXIGENIC AGENTS VIA COMPUTATIONAL APPROACH TO UNDERSTAND THE MOLECULAR MECHANISM BEHIND INHIBITION OF AFLATOXIN BIOSYNTHESIS BY GALLIC ACID AND HEXANOIC ACID AND THEIR INTERACTIONS WITH POLYKETIDE SYNTHASE PKSA OF *ASPERGILLUS FLAVUS*. Biological Data Collection And Sequence Retrieval(UniProt ID :B8NI04 ASPFN) followed by Homology Modeling, pBlast analysis associated with Phylogenetic Codification.Ligand preparation of Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid and Analysis of their molecular properties using Lipinski's rule of five and Protein preparation and Structure stability of protein validated by the Ramachandran plot using procheck server was performed.Gallic acid has been docked with the different PksA domains of A. Flavus and, compared to the substrate, viz. Hexanoic acid , which participates in the PksA activation and control of aflatoxin biosynthesis .Ligplot analysis was used to compare the site of H bonding and hydrophobic interaction of Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid with seven distinct domains of PksA.The dynamics of protein-ligand complex formation for every domain was investigated through MD simulations.

METHODOLOGY



### **RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

Significant Derived Dock scores such as binding free energy, intermolecular energy, electrostatic energy and inhibition constant value results revealed that the binding energy of Gallic acid was found to be less than that of Hexanoic acid in all the respective domains. The binding energy of Gallic acid ranged between -6.09 and -4.79 kcal/mol and that of Hexanoic acid between -5.05 and -3.36 kcal/mol.



Out of seven domains, Both Gallic acid and Hexanoic acid showed the maximum inhibition with Thioesterase Domain .LigPlot analysis showed the formation of 7 H bonds in Gallic acid and 3 H bonds in Hexanoic acid. Phytochemicals showed stable binding with active site of Polyketide Synthase A (PksA) indicated by steady RMSD of protein backbone atoms and potential energy profiles.

### CONCLUSIONS

Our results indicated that Gallic acid exhibited the highest level of binding potential with PksA domain named Thioesterase domain in comparison to Hexanoic acid; thus, Gallic acid feasibly inhibits by virtue of competitively binding to the seven domains of Polyketide Synthase, a critical enzyme of aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway. our study may find its application in Phytochemicals based antiaflatoxigenic agents.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Facilities provided by Department of Biotechnology and Bioinformatics, JUIT is highly acknowledged.

### REFERENCES

 Tiwari, S., Shankar, J. Integrated proteome and HPLC analysis revealed quercetin- mediated inhibition of aflatoxin B1 biosynthesis in *Aspergillus flavus*. 3 Biotech 8, 47 (2018).
Zhao X, Zhi QQ, Li JY, Keller NP, He ZM. The Antioxidant Gallic Acid Inhibits Aflatoxin Formation in *Aspergillus flavus* by Modulating Transcription Factors FarB and CreA. Toxins (Basel). 2018 Jul 3;10(7):270.

3. Tiwari S, Shishodia SK, Shankar J (2019) Docking analysis of hexanoic acid and quercetin with seven domains of polyketide synthase A provided insight into quercetin-mediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in *Aspergillus flavus*. 3 BIOTECH

#### <u>REFERENCES</u>

- S. Tiwari and J. Shankar, "Integrated proteome and HPLC analysis revealed quercetin-mediated inhibition of aflatoxin B1 biosynthesis in *Aspergillus flavus*," (in eng), *3 Biotech*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 47, Jan 2018, doi: 10.1007/s13205-017-1067-01067 [pii].
- [2] X. Zhao, Q. Q. Zhi, J. Y. Li, N. P. Keller, and Z. M. He, "The Antioxidant Gallic Acid Inhibits Aflatoxin Formation in *Aspergillus flavus* by Modulating Transcription Factors FarB and CreA," (in eng), *Toxins (Basel)*, vol. 10, no. 7, Jul 3 2018, doi: toxins10070270
  [pii]10.3390/toxins10070270.
- [3] S. Tiwari, S. K. Shishodia, and J. Shankar, "Docking analysis of hexanoic acid and quercetin with seven domains of polyketide synthase A provided insight into quercetinmediated aflatoxin biosynthesis inhibition in *Aspergillus flavus*," (in eng), *3 Biotech*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 149, Apr 2019, doi: 10.1007/s13205-019-1675-y1675.
- [4] J. C. Frisvad, P. Skouboe, and R. A. Samson, "Taxonomic comparison of three different groups of aflatoxin producers and a new efficient producer of aflatoxin B1, sterigmatocystin and 3-O-methylsterigmatocystin, *Aspergillus rambellii* sp. nov," (in eng), *Syst Appl Microbiol*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 442-53, Jul 2005, doi: S0723-2020(05)00042-1 [pii]10.1016/j.syapm.2005.02.012.
- [5] M. A. Klich, "Aspergillus flavus: the major producer of aflatoxin," (in eng), Mol Plant Pathol, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 713-22, Nov 2007, doi: MPP436 [pii] 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2007.00436.x.
- [6] M. T. Hedayati, A. C. Pasqualotto, P. A. Warn, P. Bowyer, and D. W. Denning, "Aspergillus flavus: human pathogen, allergen and mycotoxin producer," (in eng),

*Microbiology (Reading),* vol. 153, no. Pt 6, pp. 1677-1692, Jun 2007, doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/007641-0.

- [7] H. Gourama and L. B. Bullerman, "Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus: Aflatoxigenic Fungi of Concern in Foods and Feeds (dagger): A Review," (in eng), J Food Prot, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 1395-1404, Dec 1995, doi: 10.4315/0362-028X-58.12.1395.
- [8] J. W. Cary, N. Barnaby, K. C. Ehrlich, and D. Bhatnagar, "Isolation and characterization of experimentally induced, aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway deletion mutants of *Aspergillus parasiticus*," (in eng), *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 808-12, Jun 1999, doi: 10.1007/s002530051466.
- [9] J. M. Crawford and C. A. Townsend, "New insights into the formation of fungal aromatic polyketides," (in eng), *Nat Rev Microbiol*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 879-89, Dec 2010, doi: nrmicro2465 [pii]10.1038/nrmicro2465.
- J. Yu, "Current understanding on aflatoxin biosynthesis and future perspective in reducing aflatoxin contamination," (in eng), *Toxins (Basel)*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 1024-57, Oct 25 2012, doi: toxins4111024 [pii]10.3390/toxins4111024.
- [11] D. W. Brown, T. H. Adams, and N. P. Keller, "*Aspergillus* has distinct fatty acid synthases for primary and secondary metabolism," (in eng), *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 93, no. 25, pp. 14873-7, Dec 10 1996, doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.25.14873.
- [12] Y. N. Yin, L. Y. Yan, J. H. Jiang, and Z. H. Ma, "Biological control of aflatoxin contamination of crops," (in eng), *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 787-92, Oct 2008, doi: 10.1631/jzus.B0860003.
- [13] R. Makhuvele, K. Naidu, S. Gbashi, V. C. Thipe, O. A. Adebo, and P. B. Njobeh, "The use of plant extracts and their phytochemicals for control of toxigenic fungi and mycotoxins,"

(in eng), Heliyon, vol. 6, no. 10, p. e05291, Oct 2020, doi:

10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05291S2405-8440(20)32134-4 [pii].

- [14] R. Nischitha, M. M. Vasanthkumari, B. E. Kumaraswamy, and M. B. Shivanna, "Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities and chemical profiling of *Curvularia tsudae* endophytic in Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers," (in eng), *3 Biotech*, vol. 10, no. 7, p. 300, Jul 2020, doi: 10.1007/s13205-020-02250-02250 [pii].
- [15] E. A. Palombo, "Traditional Medicinal Plant Extracts and Natural Products with Activity against Oral Bacteria: Potential Application in the Prevention and Treatment of Oral Diseases," (in eng), *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, vol. 2011, p. 680354, 2011, doi: 10.1093/ecam/nep067 nep067 [pii].
- [16] D. A. Khan *et al.*, "Pharmacoinformatics approaches in the discovery of drug-like antimicrobials of plant origin," (in eng), *J Biomol Struct Dyn*, pp. 1-17, Mar 4 2021, doi: 10.1080/07391102.2021.1894982.
- [17] S. Tiwari, N. Gupta, U. Malairaman, and J. Shankar, "Anti-aspergillus Properties of Phytochemicals Against Aflatoxin Producing Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus," National Academy Science Letters, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 267-271, 2017/08/01 2017, doi: 10.1007/s40009-017-0569-y.
- [18] M. Eskola, G. Kos, C. Elliott, J. Hajšlová, R. Krska, and S. Mayar, "Worldwide contamination of food-crops with mycotoxins: Validity of the widely cited 'FAO estimate' of 25%," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 60, 2019, doi: 10.1080/10408398.2019.1658570.

- [19] S. K. Shishodia, S. Tiwari, and J. Shankar, "Resistance mechanism and proteins in *Aspergillus* species against antifungal agents," (in eng), *Mycology*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 151-165, 2019, doi: 10.1080/21501203.2019.1574927.
- [20] M. E. Zain, "Impact of mycotoxins on humans and animals," Journal of Saudi Chemical Society, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 129-144, 2011/04/01/ 2011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jscs.2010.06.006.
- [21] C. P. Kurtzman, B. W. Horn, and C. W. Hesseltine, "Aspergillus nomius, a new aflatoxinproducing species related to *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus tamarii*," *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 147-158, 1987/05/01 1987, doi: 10.1007/bf00393843.
- [22] J. W. Dorner, R. J. Cole, T. H. Sanders, and P. D. Blankenship, "Interrelationship of kernel water activity, soil temperature, maturity, and phytoalexin production in preharvest aflatoxin contamination of drought-stressed peanuts," (in eng), *Mycopathologia*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 117-28, Feb 1989, doi: 10.1007/BF00444034.
- [23] H. Xu, S. Annis, J. Linz, and F. Trail, "Infection and colonization of peanut pods by *Aspergillus parasiticus* and the expression of the aflatoxin biosynthetic gene, nor-1, in infection hyphae," *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, vol. 56, pp. 185-196, 2000, doi: 10.1006/pmpp.2000.0265.
- [24] L. A. Goldblatt, *Aflatoxin; scientific background, control, and implications* (Food science and technology 7). New York,: Academic Press, 1969, pp. xii, 472 p.
- [25] R. A. Squire, "Ranking animal carcinogens: a proposed regulatory approach," (in eng), *Science*, vol. 214, no. 4523, pp. 877-80, Nov 20 1981, doi: 10.1126/science.7302565.
- [26] B. Prakash, A. Kumar, P. Singh, and L. Songachan, "Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of phytochemicals: current status and future perspective," 2020.

- [27] O. Alabi *et al.*, "Anti-mutagenic and Anti-genotoxic Effect of Ethanolic Extract of Neem on Dietary-aflatoxin Induced Genotoxicity in Mice," *Journal of Biological Sciences*, vol. 11, pp. 307-313, 2011, doi: 10.3923/jbs.2011.307.313.
- [28] S. Das *et al.*, "Foodborne microbial toxins and their inhibition by plant-based chemicals," 2020, pp. 165-207.
- [29] O. A. Adebo and I. Gabriela Medina-Meza, "Impact of Fermentation on the Phenolic Compounds and Antioxidant Activity of Whole Cereal Grains: A Mini Review," (in eng), *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 4, Feb 19 2020, doi: molecules25040927 [pii] 10.3390/molecules25040927.
- [30] G. Velu, V. Palanichamy, and A. P. Rajan, "Phytochemical and Pharmacological Importance of Plant Secondary Metabolites in Modern Medicine," in *Bioorganic Phase in Natural Food: An Overview*, S. M. Roopan and G. Madhumitha Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 135-156.
- [31] T. K. Patel, R. Anand, A. P. Singh, J. Shankar, and B. N. Tiwary, "Evaluation of aflatoxin B1 biosynthesis in A. flavus isolates from central india and identification of atoxigenic isolates," *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 1105-1113, 2014/11/01 2014, doi: 10.1007/s12257-014-0464-z.
- [32] N. Mahoney and R. J. Molyneux, "Phytochemical inhibition of aflatoxigenicity in Aspergillus flavus by constituents of walnut (Juglans regia)," (in eng), J Agric Food Chem, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1882-9, Apr 7 2004, doi: 10.1021/jf030812p.
- [33] X. Luo, K. J. Affeldt, and N. P. Keller, "Characterization of the Far Transcription Factor Family in *Aspergillus flavus*," (in eng), *G3 (Bethesda)*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 3269-3281, Oct 13 2016, doi: g3.116.032466 [pii] 10.1534/g3.116.032466.

- [34] O. E. Fasoyin, B. Wang, M. Qiu, X. Han, K. R. Chung, and S. Wang, "Carbon catabolite repression gene creA regulates morphology, aflatoxin biosynthesis and virulence in *Aspergillus flavus*," (in eng), *Fungal Genet Biol*, vol. 115, pp. 41-51, Jun 2018, doi: S1087-1845(18)30067-7 [pii] 10.1016/j.fgb.2018.04.008.
- [35] V. P. Kumar, N. S. Chauhan, H. Padh, and M. Rajani, "Search for antibacterial and antifungal agents from selected Indian medicinal plants," (in eng), *J Ethnopharmacol*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 182-8, Sep 19 2006, doi: S0378-8741(06)00134-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.jep.2006.03.013.
- [36] W. Zhou, L. B. Hu, Y. Zhao, M. Y. Wang, H. Zhang, and H. Z. Mo, "Inhibition of Fungal Aflatoxin B1 Biosynthesis by Diverse Botanically-Derived Polyphenols," *Tropical Journal* of Pharmaceutical Research, vol. 14, pp. 605-609, 2015, doi:10.4314/tjpr.v14i4.7.
- [37] K. C. Choi *et al.*, "Inhibitory effects of quercetin on aflatoxin B1-induced hepatic damage in mice," (in eng), *Food Chem Toxicol*, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. 2747-53, Oct 2010, doi: S0278-6915(10)00440-0 [pii] 10.1016/j.fct.2010.07.001.
- [38] A. Gacek and J. Strauss, "The chromatin code of fungal secondary metabolite gene clusters," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 1389-1404, 2012/09/01 2012, doi: 10.1007/s00253-012-4208-8.
- [39] J. Yu, D. Bhatnagar, and T. E. Cleveland, "Completed sequence of aflatoxin pathway gene cluster in *Aspergillus parasiticus*," (in eng), *FEBS Lett*, vol. 564, no. 1-2, pp. 126-30, Apr 23 2004, doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(04)00327-8 S0014579304003278 [pii].
- [40] J. Shankar et al., "Molecular Insights Into Development and Virulence Determinants of Aspergilli: A Proteomic Perspective," (in English), Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, Review vol. 8, no. 180, 2018-May-29 2018, doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00180.

- [41] T. P. Korman *et al.*, "Structure and function of an iterative polyketide synthase thioesterase domain catalyzing Claisen cyclization in aflatoxin biosynthesis," (in eng), *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 107, no. 14, pp. 6246-51, Apr 6 2010, doi: 0913531107 [pii] 10.1073/pnas.0913531107.
- [42] S. P. Kale, J. W. Cary, C. Baker, D. Walker, D. Bhatnagar, and J. W. Bennett, "Genetic analysis of morphological variants of *Aspergillus parasiticus* deficient in secondary metabolite production," (in eng), *Mycol Res*, vol. 107, no. Pt 7, pp. 831-40, Jul 2003, doi: 10.1017/s0953756203007998.
- [43] G. A. Payne *et al.*, "Whole genome comparison of *Aspergillus flavus* and *A. oryzae*," (in eng), *Med Mycol*, vol. 44, no. Supplement\_1, pp. S9-S11, Sep 1 2006, doi: 1749057 [pii] 10.1080/13693780600835716.
- [44] R. Thakur and J. Shankar, "Proteome Profile of *Aspergillus terreus* Conidia at Germinating Stage: Identification of Probable Virulent Factors and Enzymes from Mycotoxin Pathways," *Mycopathologia*, vol. 182, no. 9, pp. 771-784, 2017/10/01 2017, doi: 10.1007/s11046-017-0161-5.
- [45] S. K. Shishodia and J. Shankar, "Proteomic analysis revealed ROS-mediated growth inhibition of *Aspergillus terreus* by shikonin," (in eng), *J Proteomics*, vol. 224, p. 103849, Jul 30 2020, doi: S1874-3919(20)30217-7 [pii] 10.1016/j.jprot.2020.103849.
- [46] S. Tiwari and J. Shankar, "Hsp70 in Fungi: Evolution, Function and Vaccine Candidate," in HSP70 in Human Diseases and Disorders, A. A. A. Asea and P. Kaur Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 381-400.

- [47] S. Tiwari, R. Thakur, and J. Shankar, "Role of Heat-Shock Proteins in Cellular Function and in the Biology of Fungi," (in eng), *Biotechnol Res Int*, vol. 2015, p. 132635, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/132635.
- [48] U. Dhiman, R. Parihar, S. Rana, S. Upadhyay, and V. Kumar, "Comparative In Silico Analysis of Randomly Selected Heat Shock Proteins in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Photorhabdus temperata*," *Biointerface Research in Applied Chemistry*, vol. 11, pp. 11418-11430, 2020, doi: 10.33263/briac114.1141811430.